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Consolidated Balance Sheet 

 

March 31, 2025 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Assets      

Current assets:      

Cash and deposits (Notes 6, 15 and 18) ¥ 272,616  ¥ 204,716 

Accounts and notes receivable-trade and contract assets 

(Notes 6, 15 and 20)  129,632   113,917 

Raw materials and supplies (Note 6)  42,513   38,308 

Deferred and prepaid expenses (Note 6)  25,629   23,848 

Short-term loans receivable  1,688   4,317 

Other current assets (Note 16)  17,609   19,464 

Allowance for doubtful accounts  (1,411)   (1,197) 

Total current assets  488,278   403,375 

      

Non-current assets:      

Vessels, net (Note 6)  324,106   389,939 

Buildings and structures, net  9,600   9,455 

Machinery, equipment and vehicles, net  3,245   3,144 

Land (Note 13)  15,548   15,565 

Construction in progress  51,364   63,806 

Other, net  6,452   6,755 

Total vessels, property and equipment (Notes 11 and 21)  410,318   488,666 

      

Intangible assets (Note 21):      

Other intangible assets  6,036   7,266 

Total intangible assets  6,036   7,266 

      

Investments and other assets:      

Investment securities (Notes 5, 6, 12, 15 and 21)  1,139,971   1,230,101 

Long-term loans receivable  20,479   18,051 

Asset for retirement benefits (Note 9)  2,387   4,942 

Deferred tax assets (Note 7)  3,728   3,834 

Other investments and other assets (Notes 12 and 16)  39,955   55,112 

Allowance for doubtful accounts  (1,723)   (1,302) 

Total investments and other assets  1,204,799   1,310,739 

      

Total non-current assets  1,621,154   1,806,673 

      

Total assets (Note 21) ¥ 2,109,432  ¥ 2,210,049 
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Consolidated Balance Sheet (continued) 
 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Liabilities      
Current liabilities:      

Accounts and notes payable - trade (Note 15) ¥ 77,596  ¥ 69,222 
Short-term loans and current portion of long-term loans 

(Notes 6 and 15)  49,135   51,412 
Lease obligations (Note 6)  11,958   20,379 
Accrued income taxes (Note 7)  3,399   6,129 
Provision for loss related to the Anti-Monopoly Act  3,821   1,335 
Provision for loss on chartering contracts  5,442   3,206 
Provision for bonuses  3,393   4,304 
Provision for directors’ bonuses  418   421 
Provision for loss on litigation  －   314 

Other current liabilities (Note 16)  54,742   48,729 

Total current liabilities  209,908   205,455 

      
Non-current liabilities:      

Bonds (Notes 6 and 15)  8,000   14,000 
Long-term loans, less current portion (Notes 6 and 15)  206,107   229,840 
Lease obligations (Note 6)  12,580   29,229 
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 7)  16,519   19,066 
Deferred tax liabilities on land revaluation (Note 13)  1,174   1,210 
Provision for directors’ and other officers’ retirement 

benefits  38   37 
Provision for directors’ stock benefits  2,300   2,655 
Provision for periodic drydocking of vessels  16,542   17,986 
Liability for retirement benefits (Note 9)  4,855   5,150 
Other non-current liabilities (Note 16)  6,805   7,967 

Total non-current liabilities  274,924   327,144 

Total liabilities ¥ 484,832  ¥ 532,599 

      

Net assets      
Shareholders’ equity (Note 10):      

Common stock      
Authorized － 600,000,000 shares in 2024 and 

1,800,000,000 shares in 2025      
Issued         － 238,242,689 shares in 2024 and 

639,172,067 shares in 2025 ¥ 75,457  ¥ 75,457 
Capital surplus  29,102   32,495 
Retained earnings  1,178,723   1,248,600 

Treasury stock (Notes 4 and 19) 

－2,591,017 shares in 2024 and 

7,511,366 shares in 2025  (7,648)   (8,085) 

Total shareholders’ equity  1,275,636   1,348,467 

      
Accumulated other comprehensive income:      

Net unrealized holding gain (loss) on investment securities  13,030   12,991 
Deferred gain (loss) on hedges (Note 16)  3,076   3,066 
Revaluation reserve for land (Note 13)  4,677   4,576 
Foreign currency translation adjustments  294,822   277,190 
Retirement benefits liability adjustments (Note 9)  681   2,141 

Total accumulated other comprehensive income  316,289   299,966 

Non-controlling interests  32,674   29,015 

Total net assets  1,624,600   1,677,449 

Total liabilities and net assets ¥ 2,109,432  ¥ 2,210,049 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Operations 

 

Year ended March 31, 2025 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Marine transportation and other operating revenues 

(Notes 2 and 20) ¥ 957,939  ¥ 1,047,944 

Marine transportation and other operating costs and 

expenses  798,336   865,691 

Gross profit (loss)  159,602   182,253 

Selling, general and administrative expenses  75,448   79,398 

Operating income (loss)  84,154   102,855 

Non-operating income:      

Interest income (Note 21)  3,754   5,058 

Dividend income  3,340   3,035 

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated subsidiaries and 

affiliates (Note 21)  49,114   202,052 

Foreign exchange gains  5,207   824 

Other non-operating income  1,868   3,333 

Total non-operating income  63,286   214,303 

Non-operating expenses:      

Interest expenses (Note 21)  9,564   7,339 

Loss on valuation of derivatives (Note 16)  3,469   － 

Other non-operating expenses  1,678   1,729 

Total non-operating expenses  14,712   9,069 

Ordinary income (loss) (Note 21)  132,728   308,089 

Extraordinary income:      

Gain on sales of non-current assets  1,923   11,786 

Other extraordinary income  1,775   607 

Total extraordinary income  3,699   12,394 

Extraordinary losses:      

Loss on retirement of non-current assets  33   85 

Loss on valuation of marketable securities  1,558   － 

Loss on valuation of shares of subsidiaries and affiliates  249   91 

Provision for loss related to the Anti-Monopoly Act  2,485   － 

Provision for loss on litigation  －   314 

Other extraordinary losses  1,207   19 

Total extraordinary losses  5,535   510 

Profit (loss) before income taxes  130,891   319,973 

Income taxes (Note 7):      

Current  15,586   11,209 

Deferred  11,180   1,168 

Total income taxes  26,767   12,377 

Profit (loss)  104,124   307,596 

Profit (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests  2,134   2,211 

Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the parent (Note 19) ¥ 101,989  ¥ 305,384 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 

Year ended March 31, 2025 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Profit (loss) ¥ 104,124  ¥ 307,596 

      

Other comprehensive income (Note 17):      

Net unrealized holding gain (loss) on investment 

securities  6,484   7 

Deferred gain (loss) on hedges  613   299 

Revaluation reserve for land  －   (35) 

Foreign currency translation adjustments  16,250   (1,472) 

Retirement benefits liability adjustments  2,754   1,428 

Share of other comprehensive income (loss) of 

unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates accounted for 

using the equity method  124,746   (16,017) 

Total other comprehensive income  150,848   (15,789) 

Comprehensive income ¥ 254,972  ¥ 291,806 

      

(Breakdown)      

Comprehensive income attributable to owners of parent ¥ 251,900  ¥ 289,095 

Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling 

interests  3,071   2,710 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets 

 

Year ended March 31, 2025 

 

 (Millions of yen) 

 

 
 
 
 

Common 
stock 

 

 
 
 
 

Capital 
surplus 

 

 
 
 
 

Retained 
earnings 

 

 
 
 
 

Treasury 
stock 

 

 
 
 

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity 

 

Net 
unrealized 

holding gain 
(loss) on 

investments 
securities 

 

 
 
 

Deferred 
gain (loss) on 

hedges 

Balance at April 1, 2023 ¥ 75,457  ¥ 29,102  ¥ 1,302,769  ¥ (6,550)  ¥ 1,400,779  ¥ 6,482  ¥ 2,100 

Cumulative effects of changes in 

accounting policies  －   －   (51,763)   －   (51,763)   －   － 

Restated balance  75,457   29,102   1,251,006   (6,550)   1,349,016   6,482   2,100 

Change in items during the year                     

Cash dividends  －   －   (98,422)   －   (98,422)   －   － 

Profit (loss) attributable to owners of 

the parent  －   －   101,989   －   101,989   －   － 

Purchase of treasury stock  －   －   －   (56,211)   (56,211)   －   － 

Disposal of treasury stock  －   0   －   159   159   －   － 

Cancellation of treasury stock  －   (788)   (54,954)   55,743   －   －   － 

Disposal of treasury stock for the 

Board Benefit Trust  －   788   －   4,051   4,839   －   － 

Purchase of treasury stock by the 

Board Benefit Trust  －   －   －   (4,839)   (4,839)   －   － 

Changes in a foreign affiliated 

company's interests in its 

subsidiary  －   －   (20,908)   －   (20,908)   －   － 

Change in treasury stock arising from 

change in equity in entities 

accounted for using equity method  －   －   －   －   －   －   － 

Change in ownership interest of 

parent due to transactions with non-

controlling interests  －   －   －   －   －   －   － 

Reversal of revaluation reserve for 

land  －   －   5   －   5   －   － 

Net changes in retained earnings from 

changes in scope of consolidation or 

equity method  －   －   8   －   8   －   － 

Net changes in items other than 

shareholders’ equity  －   －   －   －   －   6,548   975 

Net changes during the year  －   0   (72,282)   (1,097)   (73,379)   6,548   975 

Balance at March 31, 2024 ¥ 75,457  ¥ 29,102  ¥ 1,178,723  ¥ (7,648)  ¥ 1,275,636  ¥ 13,030  ¥ 3,076 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets (continued) 

 

 (Millions of yen) 

 

 
 
 

Revaluation 
reserve for land 

 

 
Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments 

 

 
Retirement 

benefits 
liability 

adjustments 

 

Total 
accumulated 

other 
comprehensive 

income 

 

 
 
 

Non-controlling 
interests 

 

 
 
 
 

Total net assets 

Balance at April 1, 2023 ¥ 4,682  ¥ 103,353  ¥ (2,000)  ¥ 114,619  ¥ 31,280  ¥ 1,546,679 

Cumulative effects of changes in 

accounting policies  －   51,763   －   51,763   －   － 

Restated balance  4,682   155,117   (2,000)   166,383   31,280   1,546,679 

Change in items during the year                  

Cash dividends  －   －   －   －   －   (98,422) 

Profit (loss) attributable to owners of 

the parent  －   －   －   －   －   101,989 

Purchase of treasury stock  －   －   －   －   －   (56,211) 

Disposal of treasury stock  －   －   －   －   －   159 

Cancellation of treasury stock  －   －   －   －   －   － 

Disposal of treasury stock for the 

Board Benefit Trust  －   －   －   －   －   4,839 

Purchase of treasury stock by the 

Board Benefit Trust  －   －   －   －   －   (4,839) 

Changes in a foreign affiliated 

company's interests in its 

subsidiary  －   －   －   －   －   (20,908) 

Change in treasury stock arising from 

change in equity in entities 

accounted for using equity method  －   －   －   －   －   － 

Change in ownership interest of 

parent due to transactions with non-

controlling interests  －   －   －   －   －   － 

Reversal of revaluation reserve for 

land  －   －   －   －   －   5 

Net changes in retained earnings from 

changes in scope of consolidation or 

equity method  －   －   －   －   －   8 

Net changes in items other than 

shareholders’ equity  (5)   139,705   2,681   149,905   1,394   151,300 

Net changes during the year  (5)   139,705   2,681   149,905   1,394   77,920 

Balance at March 31, 2024 ¥ 4,677  ¥ 294,822  ¥ 681  ¥ 316,289  ¥ 32,674  ¥ 1,624,600 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets (continued) 

 

 (Millions of yen) 

 

 

 

 

 
Common 

stock 

 

 

 

 

 
Capital 

surplus 

 

 

 

 

 
Retained 

earnings 

 

 

 

 

 
Treasury 

stock 

 

 

 

 

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity 

 

Net 

unrealized 

holding gain 

(loss) on 
investments 

securities 

 

 

 

 

Deferred 
gain (loss) on 

hedges 

Balance at April 1, 2024 ¥ 75,457  ¥ 29,102  ¥ 1,178,723  ¥ (7,648)  ¥ 1,275,636  ¥ 13,030  ¥ 3,076 

Cumulative effects of changes in 

accounting policies  －   －   －   －   －   －   － 

Restated balance  75,457   29,102   1,178,723   (7,648)   1,275,636   13,030   3,076 

Change in items during the year                     

Cash dividends  －   －   (69,373)   －   (69,373)   －   － 

Profit (loss) attributable to owners of 

the parent  －   －   305,384   －   305,384   －   － 

Purchase of treasury stock  －   －   －   (166,130)   (166,130)   －   － 

Disposal of treasury stock  －   0   －   238   238   －   － 

Cancellation of treasury stock  －   (0)   (165,455)   165,455   －   －   － 

Disposal of treasury stock for the 

Board Benefit Trust  －   －   －   －   －   －   － 

Purchase of treasury stock by the 

Board Benefit Trust  －   －   －   －   －   －   － 

Changes in a foreign affiliated 

company's interests in its 

subsidiary  －   －   －   －   －   －   － 

Change in treasury stock arising from 

change in equity in entities 

accounted for using equity method  －   －   －   (1)   (1)   －   － 

Change in ownership interest of 

parent due to transactions with non-

controlling interests  －   3,392   －   －   3,392   －   － 

Reversal of revaluation reserve for 

land  －   －   33   －   33   －   － 

Net changes in retained earnings from 

changes in scope of consolidation or 

equity method  －   －   (712)   －   (712)   －   － 

Net changes in items other than 

shareholders’ equity  －   －   －   －   －   (39)   (9) 

Net changes during the year  －   3,392   69,876   (437)   72,831   (39)   (9) 

Balance at March 31, 2025 ¥ 75,457  ¥ 32,495  ¥ 1,248,600  ¥ (8,085)  ¥ 1,348,467  ¥ 12,991  ¥ 3,066 

 

  



- 8 - 

 

 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets (continued) 

 

 (Millions of yen) 

 

 

 

 

Revaluation 
reserve for land 

 

 

Foreign 

currency 

translation 
adjustments 

 

 

Retirement 

benefits 

liability 
adjustments 

 

Total 

accumulated 

other 

comprehensive 
income 

 

 

 

 

Non-controlling 
interests 

 

 

 

 

 
Total net assets 

Balance at April 1, 2024 ¥ 4,677  ¥ 294,822  ¥ 681  ¥ 316,289  ¥ 32,674  ¥ 1,624,600 

Cumulative effects of changes in 

accounting policies  －   －   －   －   －   － 

Restated balance  4,677   294,822   681   316,289   32,674   1,624,600 

Change in items during the year                  

Cash dividends  －   －   －   －   －   (69,373) 

Profit (loss) attributable to owners of 

the parent  －   －   －   －   －   305,384 

Purchase of treasury stock  －   －   －   －   －   (166,130) 

Disposal of treasury stock  －   －   －   －   －   238 

Cancellation of treasury stock  －   －   －   －   －   － 

Disposal of treasury stock for the 

Board Benefit Trust  －   －   －   －   －   － 

Purchase of treasury stock by the 

Board Benefit Trust  －   －   －   －   －   － 

Changes in a foreign affiliated 

company's interests in its 

subsidiary  －   －   －   －   －   － 

Change in treasury stock arising 

from change in equity in entities 

accounted for using equity method  －   －   －   －   －   (1) 

Change in ownership interest of 

parent due to transactions with non-

controlling interests  －   －   －   －   －   3,392 

Reversal of revaluation reserve for 

land  －   －   －   －   －   33 

Net changes in retained earnings from 

changes in scope of consolidation or 

equity method  －   －   －   －   －   (712) 

Net changes in items other than 

shareholders’ equity  (100)   (17,632)   1,459   (16,322)   (3,659)   (19,982) 

Net changes during the year  (100)   (17,632)   1,459   (16,322)   (3,659)   52,849 

Balance at March 31, 2025 ¥ 4,576  ¥ 277,190  ¥ 2,141  ¥ 299,966  ¥ 29,015  ¥ 1,677,449 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

 

Year ended March 31, 2025 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Cash flows from operating activities:      

Profit (loss) before income taxes ¥ 130,891  ¥ 319,973 

Depreciation and amortization  44,550   49,137 

Increase (decrease) in liability for retirement benefits  (1,662)   285 

(Increase) decrease in asset for retirement benefits  (986)   (2,555) 

Increase (decrease) in retirement benefits liability 

adjustments  3,059   2,052 

Increase (decrease) in provision for directors’ and other 

officers’ retirement benefits  (44)   (1) 

Increase (decrease) in provision for periodic drydocking of 

vessels  1,680   1,493 

Increase (decrease) in provision for loss related to the Anti-

Monopoly Act  2,485   － 

Increase (decrease) in provision for loss on chartering 

contracts  (4,166)   (2,236) 

Increase (decrease) in provision for loss on litigation  －   314 

Increase (decrease) in provision for directors’ stock benefits  1,267   355 

Interest and dividend income  (7,095)   (8,093) 

Interest expenses  9,564   7,339 

Foreign exchange losses (gains)  (5,735)   4,283 

Equity in (earnings) losses of unconsolidated subsidiaries 

and affiliates  (49,114)   (202,052) 

(Gain) loss on sales of vessels, property and equipment  (1,916)   (11,785) 

(Gain) loss on valuation of marketable securities  1,558   － 

Loss on valuation of shares of subsidiaries and affiliates  249   91 

Loss on retirement of non-current assets  33   85 

(Increase) decrease in accounts and notes receivable – trade 

and contract assets  (19,248)   15,803 

(Increase) decrease in inventories  (3,821)   4,013 

(Increase) decrease in other current assets  (3,056)   (1,116) 

Increase (decrease) in accounts and notes payable – trade  11,856   (7,937) 

Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities  10,335   (4,227) 

Other, net  (497)   (39) 

Subtotal  120,187   165,183 

Interest and dividends income received  106,935   124,564 

Interest expenses paid  (9,861)   (7,227) 

Payments related to the Anti-Monopoly Act  (459)   (2,344) 

Income taxes paid  (14,353)   (7,002) 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities ¥ 202,449  ¥ 273,173 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued) 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Cash flows from investing activities:      

Payments into time deposits ¥ (4,630)  ¥ (5,148) 

Proceeds from withdrawal of time deposits  4,351   4,972 

Purchases of marketable securities and investment securities  (8,520)   (29,360) 

Proceeds from sales of marketable securities and investment 

securities  574   4,261 

Proceeds from sales of shares of subsidiaries resulting in 

change in scope of consolidation  33   － 

Purchases of vessels, property and equipment  (82,323)   (129,713) 

Proceeds from sales of vessels, property and equipment  20,223   33,369 

Purchases of intangible assets  (2,183)   (2,377) 

Payments of long-term loans receivable  (329)   (1,119) 

Collection of long-term loans receivable  7,113   1,182 

Other, net  (641)   (2,202) 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (66,332)   (126,133) 

      

Cash flows from financing activities:      

Increase (decrease) in short-term loans, net  (166)   (445) 

Proceeds from long-term loans  26,982   82,634 

Repayments of long-term loans and obligations under 

finance leases  (101,716)   (62,417) 

Proceeds from issuance of bonds  8,000   6,000 

Purchase of treasury stock  (56,353)   (166,394) 

Cash dividends paid  (98,307)   (69,328) 

Cash dividends paid to non-controlling interests  (1,707)   (1,812) 

Purchases of shares of subsidiaries not resulting in change in 

scope of consolidation  －   (80) 

Proceeds from sales of shares of subsidiaries not resulting in 

change in scope of consolidation  134   － 

Other, net  (48)   199 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  (223,182)   (211,646) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 

equivalents  9,708   (5,332) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (77,357)   (69,939) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  346,831   269,474 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents arising from initial 

consolidation of subsidiaries  0   2,021 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (Note 18) ¥ 269,474  ¥ 201,557 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

March 31, 2025 

 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 

(a) Basis of preparation 

 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Kawasaki Kisen Kaisha, Ltd. (the 

“Company”) and its consolidated subsidiaries (the “Group”) have been prepared on the basis of 

accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, which are different in certain respects as to the 

application and disclosure requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), 

and are compiled from the consolidated financial statements prepared by the Company as required 

by the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan. 

 

As permitted by the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan, amounts of less than one 

million yen have been rounded down. As a result, the totals in yen in the accompanying 

consolidated financial statements do not necessarily agree with the sums of the individual 

amounts. 

 

Certain reclassifications of previously reported amounts have been made to conform the 

consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 to the presentation for the 

year ended March 31, 2025. Such reclassifications had no effect on consolidated profit, net assets 

or cash flows. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

(b) Principles of consolidation 

 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and 

232 and 238 subsidiaries for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2025, respectively. The 

principles of consolidation are to include significant subsidiaries, whose voting interests are 

owned 40 per cent or more by the consolidated group and whose decision-making control over 

their operations is significantly affected by the consolidated group through financial or technical 

support, personnel, transactions, and so forth. In addition, significant affiliates whose decision-

making control over their operations is significantly affected by the consolidated group in various 

ways are accounted for by the equity method. 

 

For the year ended March 31, 2025, 9 consolidated subsidiaries were included in the scope of 

consolidation in terms of materiality and 3 companies were excluded from the scope of 

consolidation due to their liquidation. 

 

Certain subsidiaries are excluded from the scope of consolidation as the effect of their total assets, 

revenues, profit or loss and retained earnings (each amount of profit or loss and retained earnings 

in proportion to the interest held by the Company) on the accompanying consolidated financial 

statements are not significant. 

 

The Company accounted for 14 unconsolidated subsidiaries and 33 affiliates using the equity 

method at March 31, 2025. The main affiliated company is OCEAN NETWORK EXPRESS PTE. 

LTD. For the year ended March 31, 2025, a total of 2 companies have been included in the scope 

of application of the equity method due to the materiality of their businesses and 1 company has 

been excluded from the scope of application of the equity method due to the sale of a part of 

shares. 

 

Certain unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates are not accounted for by the equity method but 

stated at cost, because the effect of their profit or loss and retained earnings (each amount in 

proportion to the interest held by the Company) on the accompanying consolidated financial 

statements are not significant individually or in the aggregate. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

(b) Principles of consolidation (continued) 

 

For the purposes of consolidation, all significant intercompany transactions, account balances and 

unrealized profit among the consolidated group companies have been eliminated. 

 

Goodwill is amortized by the straight-line method over a period of five years. 

 

(c) Accounting period 

 

The Company’s accounting period begins each year on April 1 and ends the following year on 

March 31. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025, the Company and 229 consolidated 

subsidiaries have a March 31 year end, and the remaining 9 consolidated subsidiaries have a 

December 31 year end. Out of the 9 consolidated subsidiaries that have a December 31 year end, 

4 used December 31 as the closing date for their financial statements. However, necessary 

adjustments have been made to address any significant transactions that occurred between closing 

dates to that of the Company, and the remaining 5 out of the 9 consolidated subsidiaries with a 

fiscal year end of December 31 provide financial statements based on provisional settlement of 

accounts as of March 31 to facilitate preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 

 

For the companies accounted for by the equity method whose closing dates that differ from the 

closing date of the Company, the Company has used their financial statements for each company’s 

fiscal year. 

 

(d) Translation of foreign currencies 

 

Revenues earned and expenses incurred in currencies other than Japanese yen of the Company 

and its subsidiaries that maintain their books in Japanese yen are translated into Japanese yen 

either at an average monthly exchange rate or at the rate prevailing on the date of the transaction. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than Japanese yen are translated 

into Japanese yen at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date. Subsidiaries that 

maintain their books in a currency other than Japanese yen translate revenues and expenses and 

assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies into the currency used for financial 

reporting purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in their 

respective countries of domicile. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

(e) Translation of accounts of overseas consolidated subsidiaries 

 

The accounts of the overseas consolidated subsidiaries are translated into Japanese yen using the 

following methods: 

- Revenues and expenses: at the average exchange rates during the fiscal year 

- Assets and liabilities: at the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date 

- Net assets: at their historical exchange rates 

Differences arising from translation are presented as translation adjustments and non-controlling 

interests in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 

 

(f) Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, deposits with banks withdrawable on demand, 

and short-term investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased which can 

easily be converted to cash and are subject to little risk of change in value. 

 

(g) Raw material and supplies 

 

Raw material and supplies are mainly stated at cost based on the moving-average method (The 

method includes write-downs based on decreased profitability). 

 

(h) Securities 

 

Securities are classified into three categories: trading securities, held-to-maturity debt securities 

or other securities. Trading securities, consisting of debt and marketable equity securities, are 

stated at fair value. Gain or loss, both realized and unrealized, are credited or charged to income. 

Held-to-maturity debt securities are stated at their amortized costs. Quoted securities classified 

as other securities are carried at fair value with any changes in unrealized holding gain or loss, 

net of the applicable income taxes, reported as a separate component of net assets. Unquoted 

securities classified as other securities are carried at cost determined principally by the moving-

average method. 

 

Under the Companies Act of Japan (the “Companies Act”), net unrealized holding gain on 

investment securities after netting of applicable income taxes, is not available for distribution as 

dividends. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

(i) Vessels, property and equipment and depreciation (except for leased assets under finance 

leases) 

 

Depreciation of vessels is computed by the straight-line or the declining-balance method over the 

estimated useful lives of the respective vessels. 

 

Depreciation of property and equipment is computed principally by the declining-balance method 

over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets. However, the depreciation of buildings 

(excluding accompanying facilities) acquired on or after April 1, 1998 and facilities attached to 

buildings and structures acquired on or after April 1, 2016 are computed by the straight-line 

method. 

 

Maintenance, repairs and minor improvements are charged to income as incurred. Major 

improvements are capitalized. 

 

(j) Capitalization of interest expense 

 

Interest expense is generally charged to income as incurred. However, interest expense incurred 

in the construction of certain vessels is capitalized and included in the costs of the assets if the 

construction period is substantially long. 

 

(k) Leases 

 

Leased assets under finance lease transactions that transfer ownership to the lessee are depreciated 

by the same methods used for owned fixed assets. 

 

Leased assets under finance lease transactions that do not transfer ownership to the lessee are 

depreciated to a residual value of zero by straight-line method over the lease term. 

 

Finance lease transactions that do not transfer ownership to the lessee, starting on or before March 

31, 2008 are accounted for as operating lease transactions. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

(l) Research and development costs and computer software (except for leased assets under 

finance leases) 

 

Research and development costs are charged to income as incurred. 

 

Expenditures relating to the development of computer software intended for internal use are 

charged to income when incurred, unless these are deemed to contribute to the generation of 

future income or cost savings. Such expenditures are capitalized as assets and amortized by the 

straight-line method over their estimated useful life of five years. 

 

(m) Allowance for doubtful accounts 

 

An allowance for doubtful accounts is provided at an amount calculated based on the historical 

experience of bad debts on ordinary receivables plus an additional estimate of probable specific 

bad debts from customers experiencing financial difficulties. 

 

(n) Provision for bonuses 

 

In order to prepare for bonuses to be paid to employees, the provision for bonuses is recognized 

at the estimated amount of the bonuses to be paid as allocated to the current fiscal year. 

 

(o) Provision for directors’ bonuses 

 

In order to prepare for bonuses to be paid to directors, the provision for directors’ bonuses is 

recognized at the estimated amount of the bonuses to be paid as allocated to the current fiscal 

year. 

 

(p) Provision for directors’ and other officers’ retirement benefits 

 

In order to prepare for retirement benefit payments to directors and other officers, the amount 

required at the end of the fiscal year by the internal rules is recognized at certain consolidated 

subsidiaries. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

(q) Provision for periodic drydocking of vessels 

 

Vessels and other assets of the Group are subject to periodic overhaul. A provision is provided on 

the basis of the estimated amount of total expenses expected to be incurred for overhauling the 

vessels in the following year which has been allocated to the current fiscal year. 

 

(r) Provision for loss related to the Anti-Monopoly Act 

 

In order to prepare for losses related to lawsuits for damages filed in connection with the Anti-

Monopoly Act, an amount reasonably estimated to the extent possible is recognized. 

 

(s) Provision for directors’ stock benefits 

 

In order to prepare for stock benefits, etc. to the directors, the executive officers and the corporate 

officers in accordance with the Regulations for Delivery of Shares to Officers, the provision for 

stock benefits is recognized at the estimated amount of the Company’s stock corresponding to 

points to be provided to the eligible individuals as of the end of the current fiscal year. 

 

(t) Provision for loss on chartering contracts 

 

In order to prepare for potential future losses from certain contracts where charter rates have 

fallen below hire rates, a provision for losses on chartering contracts is recognized at the amount 

of reasonably estimable based on available information as of the end of the current fiscal year. 

 

(u) Provision for loss on litigation 

 

In order to prepare for losses related to litigation, etc., an amount reasonably estimated to the 

extent possible is recognized. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

(v) Retirement benefits 

 

The liability for retirement benefits has been provided principally at an amount calculated based 

on the retirement benefit obligation after the fair value of the pension plan assets are deducted 

within same plan. The retirement benefit obligations are attributed to each period by the benefit 

formula method. 

 

Actuarial differences are amortized in the years following the year in which the differences are 

recognized by the straight-line method principally over a period of nine years, which falls within 

the estimated average remaining years of service of the eligible employees. 

 

Past service cost is amortized by the straight-line method principally over a period of nine years, 

which falls within the estimated average remaining years of service of the eligible employees. 

 

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is determined as a result of consideration of 

both the portfolio allocation at present and in the future, and the long-term expected rate of return 

from multiple plan assets at present and in the future. 

 

(w) Recognition of revenues, and costs and expenses 

 

The Company recognizes revenue at an amount expected to be received when control of promised 

goods or services is transferred. Therefore, the Company records marine transportation revenues 

based on the number of days that have elapsed during a voyage and records costs and expenses 

associated with revenues. 

  



- 19 - 

 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

(x) Derivatives and hedging activities 

 

The Group utilizes derivatives, including forward foreign exchange contracts, interest rate swaps, 

currency options, currency swaps, bunker fuel swaps and forward freight agreements to hedge 

the risks arising from fluctuations in forward foreign currency exchange rates, mainly on 

investments in the overseas subsidiaries, etc. and forecast transactions denominated in foreign 

currencies; interest rates, mainly on loan and lease transactions; and market prices, mainly on 

bunker fuel, freight and charter fees. 

 

The Group applies deferral hedge accounting method. If interest rate swap contracts are used as 

hedges and meet certain hedging criteria, the net amount to be paid or received under the interest 

rate swap contract is added to or deducted from the interest on the assets or liabilities for which 

the swap contract is executed under the “Special treatment.” 

 

Forward foreign exchange contracts which meet certain criteria are accounted for by the 

allocation method which requires that recognized foreign currency receivables or payables be 

translated at the corresponding contract rates. 

 

The hedge effectiveness is assessed based on a comparison of the cumulative changes in cash 

flows or fair value of the hedged items with those of the hedging instruments in the period from 

the start of the hedging relationship to the assessment date. However, an evaluation of 

effectiveness is omitted for interest-rate swaps which meet certain conditions for applying the 

Special treatment. 

 

The Group executes and manages transactions for the purpose of risk control with regard to 

financial markets and others in accordance with internal rules. These rules have been established 

not only to prevent derivative or other transactions from being used for any objective other than 

their original purpose or from being executed without limitation, but also to ensure the 

management body exercises its oversight functions. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

(y) Income taxes 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been recognized with respect to the differences between 

financial reporting and the tax bases of the assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

are measured at the rates which are expected to apply to the period when each asset or liability is 

realized, based on the tax rates which have been enacted as of the balance sheet date or are 

subsequently enacted. 

 

(z) Deferred assets 

 

Bond issuance costs are expensed as incurred. 

 

(aa) Distribution of retained earnings 

 

Under the Companies Act and the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, the distribution of 

retained earnings with respect to a given fiscal year end is made by resolution of the shareholders 

at a general meeting held subsequent to the close of the financial year. 

 

The distribution of retained earnings with respect to the interim financial period is made by 

resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 

(ab) Group tax sharing system 

 

The Company and certain domestic subsidiaries adopted the group tax sharing system. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

(ac) Accounting standards issued but not yet effective 

 

(“Accounting Standard for Leases” (ASBJ Statement No. 34, September 13, 2024, ASBJ)) 

(“Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Leases” (ASBJ Guidance No. 33, 

September 13, 2024, ASBJ), etc.) 

 

(1) Overview 

 

As part of the efforts taken by the Accounting Standards Board of Japan (“ASBJ”) to align 

Japanese accounting standards with international standards, discussions have been held 

regarding the development of accounting standards for leases that require the recognition of 

assets and liabilities for all lessee leases, taking international accounting standards into 

consideration. The guiding principle is to base these standards on a single accounting model 

for lessees as outlined in IFRS 16; however, rather than adopting all the provisions of IFRS 

16, the aim is to primarily incorporate the key provisions. This approach seeks to create a 

lease accounting standard that is simple, convenient, and, in principle, does not require 

modifications when applying the provisions of IFRS 16 to non-consolidated financial 

statements. 

For the accounting treatment of lessees concerning lease expense allocation, a single 

accounting model is applied for all leases, regardless of whether they are finance leases or 

operating leases, as outlined in IFRS 16. This model requires the recording of depreciation 

expense related to the right-of-use assets and interest expense related to the lease liability. 

 

(2) Scheduled date of adoption 

 

To be applied effective from the beginning of the fiscal year ending March 31, 2028. 

 

(3) Effect of the adoption of accounting standards and guidance 

 

The effect of the application of the “Accounting Standard for Leases,” etc. on the 

consolidated financial statements is currently under evaluation.
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2. Significant Accounting Estimates 

 

Estimate of total number of voyage days used in voyage progress calculation for revenue recognition 

 

The Group considers the voyage progress in calculating freight revenue of ocean tramp shipping 

(excluding product logistics) for the Company as a significant accounting estimate due to the 

significance of the freight revenue amounts and the estimated period. 

 

(1) Amount of freight revenue included in marine transportation and other operating revenues for 

voyages not completed as of the end of the fiscal year in the consolidated financial statements for 

the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Marine transportation and other operating 

revenues ¥ 31,927  ¥ 29,058 

 

(2) Other Information 

 

(i) Calculation method of the amount recognized in the consolidated financial statements for 

the year ended March, 31, 2025 

 

Marine transportation revenues for voyages not completed as of the end of the fiscal year 

are calculated based on the total freight revenue amounts and the estimate of voyage 

progress. The voyage progress is calculated based on the number of elapsed days of a voyage 

as of the end of the fiscal year compared with the estimated total number of voyage days, 

and the amount of marine transportation revenue is recognized in proportion to the voyage 

progress. 

 

(ii) Significant assumptions in calculation the voyage progress for revenue recognition for the 

year ended March, 31, 2025 

 

A significant assumption in calculating the voyage progress for revenue recognition is the 

total number of voyage days. The total number of voyage days may change depending on 

weather conditions, congestion at the ports of loading and unloading and other factors, which 

may affect the voyage progress. 
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2. Significant Accounting Estimates (continued) 

 

Estimate of total number of voyage days used in voyage progress calculation for revenue recognition 

(continued) 

 

(2) Other Information (continued) 

 

(iii) Impact on consolidated financial statements for the following fiscal year 

 

There is a possibility that the amount of marine transportation revenue recognized for the 

following fiscal year could be affected because of the difference between estimated and 

actual total number of voyage days, which is a significant assumption, due to fluctuations in 

the voyage progress. 
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3. Changes in Accounting Policies 

 

(Application of “Accounting Standard for Current Income Taxes,” etc.) 

 

Accounting Standard for Current Income Taxes (ASBJ Statement No.27, October 28, 2022; 

hereinafter, “2022 Revised Accounting Standard”), etc. has been adopted from the beginning of the 

fiscal year ended March 31, 2025. 

 

The revisions related to the classification of income taxes (taxes on other comprehensive income) were 

made in accordance with the transitional treatment provided for in the proviso to Paragraph 20-3 of 

the 2022 Revised Accounting Standard and the proviso to Paragraph 65-2(2) of the Guidance on 

Accounting Standard for Tax Effect Accounting ((ASBJ Guidance No. 28, October 28, 2022); 

hereinafter, “2022 Revised Application Guidance”). This change in accounting policy has no impact 

on the consolidated financial statements. 

 

For the revision related to the revised accounting treatment for consolidated financial statements when 

gains or losses on sale of shares in subsidiaries resulting from transactions between consolidated 

companies were deferred for the tax purposes, the 2022 Revised Application Guidance has been 

adopted from the beginning of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025. This change in accounting policy 

was applied retrospectively. Hence, the comparative amounts for the previous fiscal year have been 

retrospectively adjusted. This change in accounting policy has no impact on the consolidated financial 

statements for the previous fiscal year. 
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3. Changes in Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

(Changes in currency conversion method into Japanese yen for income and expenses of foreign 

subsidiaries and affiliates) 

 

Income and expenses of foreign subsidiaries and affiliates were previously converted into Japanese 

yen using the spot rate on the financial closing date. Considering the increasing significance of foreign 

subsidiaries and affiliates, and recent sharp movements in foreign currency exchange rates, the method 

of applying the average conversion rate during the fiscal year would more appropriately reflect the 

business results of foreign subsidiaries and affiliates in the consolidated financial statements than using 

the spot rate on the financial closing date; therefore, the conversion rate has been changed to the 

average rate during the fiscal year from the beginning of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025. 

 

This change in accounting policy has been retroactively applied, and comparative amounts for the 

previous fiscal year have been retroactively adjusted. As a result, compared with the amounts before 

the retrospective application, operating revenues for the previous fiscal year decreased by ¥4,361 

million, operating income  decreased by ¥609 million, ordinary income decreased by ¥3,068 million, 

profit before income taxes decreased by ¥2,856 million, profit attributable to owners of the parent 

decreased by ¥2,786 million, and profit per share decreased by ¥3.86. Additionally, the cumulative 

effect is reflected in the balance of net assets as of April 1, 2023; therefore, the balance of retained 

earnings as of April 1, 2023 decreased by ¥51,763 million and the balance of foreign currency 

translation adjustments increased by the same amount.
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4. Additional Information 

 

(Share Remuneration System) 

 

(1) Transaction summary 

With the approval of an Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders held on March 28, 2025, 

the Company has transitioned from a company with an Audit & Supervisory Board to a company 

with Nominating Committee, etc. Accordingly, at the meetings of the Board of Directors and the 

Compensation Committee, the Company resolved to revise the Share Remuneration System. The 

Revisions to the system revise the recipients of performance-based remuneration and introduce a 

non-performance-based share remuneration (fixed remuneration). 

 

The executive officers (including those who concurrently serve as directors) and the corporate 

officers are applied the performance-based share remuneration system in order to further enhance 

the connection between remuneration and share value and to contribute to raising awareness of 

the need to contribute to improving the Company’s medium- to long-term performance and 

increasing corporate value. The directors (excluding those who concurrently serve as executive 

officers) are applied the non-performance-based share remuneration in order to retain and ensure 

personnel who can strengthen governance as a global company while sharing interests with 

shareholders. 

 

The shares are acquired through the trust funded by the Company and established based on the 

BBT (the “Trust”). The BBT plan enables the directors (excluding those who concurrently serve 

as executive officers), the executive officers (including those who concurrently serve as directors) 

and the corporate officers to be granted the Company’s shares and the amount of cash equivalent 

to the market price of the Company’s shares (the “Shares”) through the Trust in accordance with 

the Officers’ Share Remuneration Regulations stipulated by the Company. 

 

In principle, the directors (excluding those who concurrently serve as executive officers), the 

executive officers (including those who concurrently serve as directors) and the corporate officers 

are to receive the shares remuneration upon their retirement from the position. 

 

(2) The Company’s own stock in the Trust 

 

The Company’s outstanding shares in the Trust are included in treasury stock under net assets 

based on the book value of the Trust (excluding ancillary expenses). The book values of the 

treasury shares were ¥5,955 million and ¥5,716 million and the number of the shares of treasury 

stock were 6,503,700 shares and 6,243,300 shares as of March 31, 2024 and 2025, respectively. 

 

The Company split its common shares on the basis of one share into three shares effective April 

1, 2024. The number of shares as of March 31, 2024 represents the post-stock split amount.
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5. Marketable Securities and Investment Securities 

 

At March 31, 2024, there were no held-to-maturity debut securities to be disclosed. 

 

At March 31, 2025, there were no held-to-maturity debut securities to be disclosed. 

  



- 28 - 

 

5. Marketable Securities and Investment Securities (continued) 

 

At March 31, 2024 marketable securities and investment securities with quoted market prices 

classified as other securities are summarized as follows: 

 

 2024 

 
Carrying 

value 
 

Acquisition 
costs 

 
 

Difference 
         
 (Millions of yen) 

Securities whose carrying value 

exceeds their acquisition costs: 
        

Equity securities ¥ 22,902  ¥ 6,671  ¥ 16,230 

Bonds  842   840   2 

Securities whose carrying value does   

not exceed their acquisition costs: 
        

Equity securities  100   119   (19) 

Bonds  447   453   (6) 

Total ¥ 24,293  ¥ 8,084  ¥ 16,208 

 

At March 31, 2025 marketable securities and investment securities with quoted market prices 

classified as other securities are summarized as follows: 

 

 2025 

 
Carrying 

value 
 

Acquisition 
costs 

 
 

Difference 
         
 (Millions of yen) 

Securities whose carrying value 

exceeds their acquisition costs: 
        

Equity securities ¥ 23,164  ¥ 6,611  ¥ 16,552 

Securities whose carrying value does  

not exceed their acquisition costs: 
        

Equity securities  194   203   (9) 

Bonds  1,096   1,105   (8) 

Total ¥ 24,454  ¥ 7,920  ¥ 16,534 
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5. Marketable Securities and Investment Securities (continued) 

 

Proceeds from sales of investment securities classified as other securities for the years ended March 

31, 2024 and 2025 are summarized as follows: 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Equity securities      

Proceeds from sales ¥ 258  ¥ 57 

Aggregate gain  202   19 

Aggregate loss  0   － 

 

The Company has recognized loss on devaluation of investment securities of ¥1,807 million and ¥91 

million for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2025, respectively. 

 

Loss on impairment is recorded on securities when whose fair value has declined by 50 per cent or 

more, or whose fair value has declined by 30 per cent or more, but less than 50 per cent, if the decline 

is deemed to be irrecoverable. Loss on impairment is recorded on unquoted securities if the decline is 

deemed to be irrecoverable considering the financial position of the securities’ issuers for the years 

ended March 31, 2024 and 2025.
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6. Short-Term Loans, Long-Term Debt and Lease Obligations 

 

Short-term loans at March 31, 2024 and 2025 consisted of the following: 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Short-term loans from banks ¥ 2,885  ¥ 2,438 

 

Short-term loans from banks and insurance companies principally represent loans on deeds with 

average interest rates of 0.55% and 0.96% per annum at March 31, 2024 and 2025, respectively. 

 

Long-term debt at March 31, 2024 and 2025 consisted of the following: 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Long-term bank loans due within one year:      

Loans from banks and insurance companies due in   

installments through September 2057 at average  

interest rates of 2.41% and 2.38% per annum at 

March 31, 2024 and 2025, respectively ¥ 46,249  ¥ 48,974 

      

Long-term bank loans due after one year:      

Loans from banks and insurance companies due in   

installments through September 2057 at average 

interest rates of 2.41% and 2.38% per annum at 

March 31, 2024 and 2025, respectively 

 

206,107   229,840 

      

Bonds:      

0.73% bonds in yen, due September 11, 2028  8,000   8,000 

0.89% bonds in yen, due August 16, 2029  －   6,000 

      

Total  260,356   292,815 

Amount due within one year  46,249   48,974 

 ¥ 214,107  ¥ 243,840 
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6.  Short-Term Loans, Long-Term Debt and Lease Obligations (continued) 

 

The aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt subsequent to March 31, 2025 are summarized as 

follows: 

 

Year ending March 31,  (Millions of yen) 

2026  ¥ 48,974 

2027   56,412 

2028   31,081 

2029   30,470 

2030   19,379 

2031 and thereafter   106,496 

Total  ¥ 292,815 

 

The average interest rates applicable to the lease obligations due in installments through Jun 2039 are 

2.90% and 3.04% at March 31, 2024, and 2025, respectively. 

 

The aggregate annual maturities of obligations under finance leases subsequent to March 31, 2025 are 

summarized as follows: 

 

Year ending March 31,  (Millions of yen) 

2026  ¥ 20,379 

2027   9,661 

2028   7,399 

2029   1,592 

2030   1,638 

2031 and thereafter   8,936 

Total  ¥ 49,608 
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6. Short-Term Loans, Long-Term Debt and Lease Obligations (continued) 

 

A summary of assets pledged as collateral at March 31, 2025 for short-term loans and current portion 

of long-term loans in the amount of ¥35,263 million, long-term loans of ¥150,118 million and loans 

to be incurred in the future is presented below: 

 

  (Millions of yen) 

Vessels  ¥ 257,397 

Investment securities   72,739 

Other   4,682 

Total  ¥ 334,820 

 

Investment securities of ¥72,739 million were pledged as collateral to secure future loans for 

investments in vessels of subsidiaries and affiliates. Therefore, no corresponding liabilities existed as 

of March 31, 2025. 
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7. Income Taxes 

 

The effective tax rate reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations for the 

years ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 differed from the statutory tax rate for the following reasons: 

 

 2024  2025 

Statutory tax rate 28.5%  28.5% 

Items that are not permanently included in taxable 

income, such as dividends received (1.1)  (0.3) 

Difference in statutory tax rates of consolidated 

subsidiaries (0.6)  0.2 

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated subsidiaries 

and affiliates, net (10.7)  (18.0) 

Effect of tonnage tax system (7.8)  (4.1) 

Combined foreign subsidiary tax 5.2  (0.6) 

Retained earnings of subsidiaries and associates 12.2  0.6 

Changes in the valuation allowance (3.6)  (2.5) 

Other (1.7)  0.0 

Effective tax rate 20.5%  3.9% 
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7.     Income Taxes (continued) 

 

The tax effects of temporary differences which gave rise to significant portions of the deferred tax 

assets and liabilities at March 31, 2024 and 2025 are analyzed as follows: 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Deferred tax assets:      

Liability for retirement benefits ¥ 2,162  ¥ 2,367 

Provision for loss on chartering contracts  1,768   920 

Other allowances  2,657   3,148 

Impairment loss of fixed assets  1,565   1,401 

Elimination of unrealized intercompany profit  767   778 

Accounts and notes payable – trade  6,419   4,531 

Loss on devaluation of investment securities  1,503   1,668 

Deferred assets for tax purposes  1,330   1,039 

Tax loss carried forward (*2)  48,232   44,070 

Deferred loss on derivatives under hedge 

accounting 
 

3,192   2,832 

Other  2,688   1,842 

Gross deferred tax assets  72,287   64,602 

Valuation allowance for tax loss carried 

forward (*2) 
 

(45,875)   (37,378) 

Valuation allowance for the total of deductible 

temporary differences and others 
 

(11,955)   (11,273) 

Valuation allowance subtotal (*1)  (57,831)   (48,652) 

Total deferred tax assets  14,456   15,950 

Deferred tax liabilities:      

Deferred gain on tangible fixed assets for tax 

purposes 
 

(575)   (598) 

Unrealized holding gain on investment 

securities 
 

(5,321)   (5,605) 

Accelerated depreciation in overseas 

subsidiaries 
 

(1,655)   (1,664) 

Retained earnings of subsidiaries and  

associates 
 

(15,057)   (17,941) 

Asset for retirement benefits  (721)   (1,500) 

Deferred gain on derivatives under hedge 

accounting 
 

(2,041)   (1,757) 

Other  (1,875)   (2,114) 

Total deferred tax liabilities  (27,246)   (31,182) 

Net deferred tax liabilities ¥ (12,790)  ¥ (15,231) 
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7. Income Taxes (continued) 

 

(*1) Valuation allowance decreased by ¥9,179 million for the year ended March 31, 2025. The main 

reason for the decrease was a decrease in tax loss carried forward of ¥8,497 million. 

 

(*2) Tax loss carried forward and related deferred tax assets as of March 31, 2025 will expire as 

follows: 

 

  (Millions of yen) 

  2025 

 
 
 
Year ending March 31, 

 

 
 

Tax loss carried 
forward (*) 

 

Valuation 
allowance for tax 

loss carried 
forward 

 

Deferred tax 
assets related to 
tax loss carried 

forward 

2026  ¥ 7,211  ¥ (687)  ¥ 6,523 

2027   2,708   (2,708)   － 

2028   －   －   － 

2029   9,272   (9,272)   － 

2030   22,031   (22,031)   － 

2031 and thereafter   2,847   (2,679)   167 

  ¥ 44,070  ¥ (37,378)  ¥ 6,691 

 

(*)  The tax loss carried forward in the above table is measured using the statutory tax rate 
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7. Income Taxes (continued) 

 

(Accounting treatment of corporate tax and local corporate taxes or tax effect accounting) 

 

The Company and certain domestic subsidiaries have applied the group tax sharing system and account 

for corporate tax and local corporate taxes or tax effect accounting and conduct the disclosures relating 

to these items, in accordance with the “Practical Solution on the Accounting and Disclosure Under the 

Group Tax Sharing System” (PITF No. 42, August 12, 2021). 

 

(Changes in balance of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in line with changes in corporate 

income tax rates, etc.) 

 

Due to the enactment of the “Act for Partial Amendments to Income Tax Act, etc.” (Act No. 13 of 

2025) in the Japanese National Diet on March 31, 2025, the “Special Corporation Tax for National 

Defense” will be imposed from the fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2026. Accordingly, 

deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities related to temporary differences expected to be reversed 

in fiscal years beginning on April 1, 2026 and thereafter are calculated by changing the statutory tax 

rate from 28.5% to 29.6%. As a result of the change, the amount of deferred tax liabilities (after 

offsetting the amount of deferred tax assets) increased by ¥818 million, deferred income taxes 

increased by ¥559 million, net unrealized holding gain on investment securities decreased by ¥197 

million, retirement benefits liability adjustments decreased by ¥31 million, and deferred gain (loss) on 

hedges decreased by ¥30 million as of and for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025.
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8. Leases 

 

The following pro forma amounts represent the acquisition costs, accumulated depreciation and net 

book value of assets, mainly vessels, leased to the Group at March 31, 2024 and 2025, which would 

have been reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet if finance leases, other than 

those which transfer the ownership of the leased assets to the Group, that started on or before March 

31, 2008 (which are currently accounted for as operating leases) had been capitalized: 

 

At March 31, 2024  Vessels  Total 
       

  (Millions of yen) 

Acquisition costs  ¥ 18,517  ¥ 18,517 

Accumulated depreciation   (8,160)   (8,160) 

Net book value  ¥ 10,357  ¥ 10,357 

 

At March 31, 2025  Vessels  Total 
       

  (Millions of yen) 

Acquisition costs  ¥ 18,517  ¥ 18,517 

Accumulated depreciation   (8,913)   (8,913) 

Net book value  ¥ 9,603  ¥ 9,603 

 

Lease payments related to finance leases accounted for as operating leases and depreciation and 

interest expenses for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 are summarized as follows: 

 

  2024  2025 

  (Millions of yen) 

Lease payments  ¥ 1,319  ¥ 1,377 

Depreciation   753   753 

Interest expenses   102   86 

 

Mainly, the difference between the total lease payments and the amount equivalent to the acquisition 

cost of the leased property is considered to be the amount equivalent to interest expenses, and the 

interest method is used to allocate the amount to each fiscal year. 
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8. Leases (continued) 

 

Future minimum lease payments subsequent to March 31, 2025 for finance leases accounted for as 

operating leases are summarized as follows: 

 

Year ending March 31,  (Millions of yen) 

2026  ¥ 1,264 

2027 and thereafter   2,845 

Total  ¥ 4,109 

 

Future minimum lease payments or receipts subsequent to March 31, 2025 for non-cancellable 

operating leases are summarized as follows: 

 

(As lessees) 

 

Year ending March 31,  (Millions of yen) 

2026  ¥ 13,980 

2027 and thereafter   55,686 

Total  ¥ 69,666 

 

(As lessors) 

 

Year ending March 31,  (Millions of yen) 

2026  ¥ 9 

2027 and thereafter   － 

Total  ¥ 9 
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9. Retirement Benefits 

 

The Group has adopted funded and unfunded defined benefit plans and defined contribution plans. 

The defined benefit corporate pension plans (all of them are funded plans) provide for a lump-sum 

payment or annuity payment determined by reference to the current rate of pay and the length of 

service. The retirement lump-sum plans provide for a lump-sum payment, as employee retirement 

benefits, determined by reference to the current rate of pay and the length of service. Certain 

consolidated subsidiaries calculate asset for retirement benefits, liability for retirement benefits and 

retirement benefit expenses, for the defined benefit corporate pension plans and the retirement lump-

sum plans based on the amount which would be payable at the year-end if all eligible employees 

terminated their services voluntarily (a “simplified method”). The Company and its certain 

consolidated subsidiaries have a selective defined contribution pension plans as a defined contribution 

plan. 

 

(Defined benefit plans) 

The changes in the retirement benefit obligation, except for plans which apply a simplified method, 

for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 are as follows: 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Retirement benefit obligation at 

beginning of the year ¥ 28,979  ¥ 29,064 

Service cost  1,639   1,606 

Interest cost  94   146 

Actuarial differences  (808)   (2,852) 

Payment of retirement benefits  (922)   (1,384) 

Foreign currency exchange rate 

changes 
 

81   8 

Other  0   － 

Retirement benefit obligation at 

end of the year ¥ 29,064  ¥ 26,589 
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9. Retirement Benefits (continued) 

 

The changes in pension plan assets, except for plans which apply a simplified method, for the years 

ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 are as follows: 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Pension plan assets at fair value at 

beginning of the year ¥ 25,742  ¥ 28,284 

Expected return on pension  

plan assets 
 

402   534 

Actuarial differences  1,662   (1,157) 

Contributions by the employer  1,173   1,591 

Payment of retirement benefits  (696)   (1,090) 

Pension plan assets at fair value at 

end of the year ¥ 28,284  ¥ 28,163 

 

The changes in liability for retirement benefits calculated by a simplified method for certain 

consolidated subsidiaries for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 are as follows: 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Liability for retirement benefits, 

net at beginning of the year ¥ 1,803  ¥ 1,688 

Retirement benefit expenses  194   326 

Payment of retirement benefits  (169)   (102) 

Contributions to the plans  (140)   (130) 

Liability for retirement benefits, 

net at end of the year ¥ 1,688  ¥ 1,782 
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9. Retirement Benefits (continued) 

 

The following table sets forth the funded status of the plans and the amounts recognized in the 

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2024 and 2025 for the Group’s defined benefit plans: 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Funded retirement benefit 

obligation ¥ 30,505  ¥ 27,504 

Plan assets at fair value  (30,414)   (30,398) 

Subtotal  90   (2,894) 

Unfunded retirement benefit 

obligation 
 

2,377   3,102 

Liability for retirement benefits, net ¥ 2,468  ¥ 208 

      

Liability for retirement benefits ¥ 4,855  ¥ 5,150 

Asset for retirement benefits  (2,387)   (4,942) 

Liability for retirement benefits, net ¥ 2,468  ¥ 208 

 

The above includes retirement benefit plans which apply a simplified method. 

 

Retirement benefit expenses for the Group for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 are 

summarized as follows: 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Service cost ¥ 1,639  ¥ 1,606 

Interest cost  94   146 

Expected return on pension plan 

assets  (402)   (534) 

Amortization of actuarial 

differences  618   448 

Amortization of past service cost  (14)   (10) 

Retirement benefit expenses 

calculated by a simplified method  194   326 

Retirement benefit expenses ¥ 2,129  ¥ 1,982 
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9. Retirement Benefits (continued) 

 

Retirement benefits liability adjustments included in other comprehensive income before tax effects 

for the Group for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 are summarized as follows: 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Past service cost ¥ (14)  ¥ (10) 

Actuarial differences  3,111   2,144 

Total ¥ 3,096  ¥ 2,133 

 

Retirement benefits liability adjustments included in accumulated other comprehensive income before 

tax effects as of March 31, 2024 and 2025 are summarized as follows: 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Unrecognized past service cost ¥ (38)  ¥ (49) 

Unrecognized actuarial differences  1,109   3,254 

Total ¥ 1,071  ¥ 3,204 

 

The fair value of pension plan assets by major category as of March 31, 2024 and 2025 is as follows: 

 

 2024  2025 

Bonds 36%  37% 

Equity 27  22 

General account assets under 

insurance plan 28  28 

Other 9  13 

Total 100%  100% 

 

(Method of determining the expected rate of return on plan assets) 

 

The expected rate of return on plan assets is determined considering the long-term rates of return which 

are expected currently and in the future from the various components of the plan assets. 
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9. Retirement Benefits (continued) 

 

The assumptions used in actuarial calculations for the above defined benefit plans for the years ended 

March 31, 2024 and 2025 are as follows: 

 

 2024  2025 

Discount rates Mainly 0.0%  Mainly 1.5% 

Expected rates of return on plan assets Mainly 1.8%  Mainly 2.2% 

Rates of salary increase Mainly 

1.2% to 16.5% 
 

Mainly 

1.2% to 16.5% 

 

(Defined contribution plan) 

Total contributions paid by the Company and certain consolidated subsidiaries to the defined 

contribution plans amounted to ¥919 million and ¥1,187 million for the years ended March 31, 2024 

and 2025, respectively.
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10. Shareholders’ Equity 

 

Movements in common stock and treasury stock of the Company for the years ended March 31, 2024 

and 2025 are summarized as follows: 

 

 Number of shares (Thousands) 

 April 1, 2023  Increase  Decrease  March 31, 2024 

Common stock 

(*1, 3) 250,712  －  12,469  238,242 

Treasury stock 

(*1, 2, 4, 5) 3,438  12,587  13,434  2,591 

 

(*1) The Company split its common shares on the basis of one share into three shares effective April 

1, 2024. The above number of shares are described on pre-stock split basis. 

 

(*2) There were 1,319 thousand and 2,167 thousand shares, which are held by the Custody Bank of 

Japan, Ltd., included in the number of shares in treasury stock at April 1, 2023 and March 31, 

2024, respectively. 

 

(*3) The decrease in the number of shares issued in common stock of 12,469 thousand shares is due 

to cancellation of treasury stock based on the resolution at the Board of Directors’ meeting. 

 

(*4) The increase in the number of shares in treasury stock of 12,587 thousand shares is due to increase 

of 11,676 thousand shares by purchase of treasury stock based on the resolution at the Board of 

Directors’ meeting, etc. 

 

(*5) The decrease in the number of shares in treasury stock of 13,434 thousand shares is due to 

decrease of 12,469 thousand shares by cancellation of treasury stock based on the resolution at 

the Board of Directors’ meeting, etc. 
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10. Shareholders’ Equity (continued) 

 

 Number of shares (Thousands) 

 April 1, 2024  Increase  Decrease  March 31, 2025 

Common stock 

(*1, 3) 714,728  －  75,556  639,172 

Treasury stock 

(*1, 2, 4, 5) 7,773  75,557  75,818  7,511 

 

(*1) The Company split its common shares on the basis of one share into three shares effective April 

1, 2024. 

 

(*2) There were 6,503 thousand and 6,243 thousand shares, which are held by the Custody Bank of 

Japan, Ltd., included in the number of shares in treasury stock at April 1, 2024 and March 31, 

2025, respectively. 

 

(*3) The decrease in the number of shares issued in common stock of 75,556 thousand shares is due 

to cancellation of treasury stock based on the resolution at the Board of Directors’ meeting. 

 

(*4) The increase in the number of shares in treasury stock of 75,557 thousand shares is due to increase 

of 75,556 thousand shares by purchase of treasury stock based on the resolution at the Board of 

Directors’ meeting, etc. 

 

(*5) The decrease in the number of shares in treasury stock of 75,818 thousand shares is due to 

decrease of 75,556 thousand shares by cancellation of treasury stock based on the resolution at 

the Board of Directors’ meeting, etc. 
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10. Shareholders’ Equity (continued) 

 

Dividends distributed for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 are as follows: 

 

Resolution 
 

Class of 
shares 

 
Total amount 
of dividend 

 
Source of 
dividend 

 Cash 
dividends per 

share 

 
Record date 

 
Effective date 

 
 

 
 (Millions of 

yen) 

 
 

 
(Yen) 

 
 

 
 

Ordinary General 

Meeting of 

Shareholders 

held on June 23, 

2023 (*1, 3) 

 

Common 

stock 

 

¥ 74,593 

 

Retained 

earnings 

 

¥ 300 

 

March 31, 

2023 

 

June 26, 2023 

             

Board of 

Directors’ 

Meeting held 

on November 

2, 2023 (*2, 3) 

 

Common 

stock 

 

  23,848 

 

Retained 

earnings 

 

  100 

 

September 30, 

2023 

 

December 4, 

2023 

 

(*1) The total amount of dividends resolved at the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders on June 

23, 2023 includes ¥395 million of dividends on the Company’s shares held by The Custody Bank 

of Japan, Ltd. as trust assets of the “Board Benefit Trust (BBT)”. 

 

(*2) The total amount of dividends resolved at the Board of Directors’ Meeting on November 2, 2023 

includes ¥131 million of dividends on the Company’s shares held by The Custody Bank of Japan, 

Ltd. as trust assets of the “Board Benefit Trust (BBT)”. 

 

(*3) The Company split its common shares on the basis of one share into three shares effective April 

1, 2024. “Cash dividends per share” represents at the pre-stock split amount. 
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10. Shareholders’ Equity (continued) 

 

Dividends with the record date falling in the year ended March 31, 2024 and with the effective date 

falling in the following fiscal year: 

 

Resolution 
 

Class of 
shares 

 
Total amount 
of dividend 

 
Source of 
dividend 

 Cash 
dividends per 

share 

 
Record date 

 
Effective date 

 
 

 
 (Millions of 

yen) 

 
 

 
(Yen) 

 
 

 
 

Approved at 

the 

shareholders’ 

meeting held 

on June 21, 

2024 (*1, 2) 

 

Common 

stock 

 

¥ 35,680 

 

Retained 

earnings 

 

¥ 150 

 

March 31, 

2024 

 

June 24, 2024 

 

(*1) The total amount of dividends resolved at the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders on June 

21, 2024 includes ¥325 million of dividends on the shares of the Company held by The Custody 

Bank of Japan, Ltd. as trust assets of the “Board Benefit Trust (BBT)”. 

 

(*2) The Company split its common shares on the basis of one share into three shares effective April 

1, 2024. “Cash dividends per share” represents the pre-stock split amount. 
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10. Shareholders’ Equity (continued) 

 

Dividends distributed for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025 are as follows: 

 

Resolution 
 

Class of 
shares 

 Total 
amount 

of dividend 

 
Source of 
dividend 

 Cash 
dividends 
per share 

 
Record date 

 
Effective date 

 
 

 
 (Millions of 

yen) 

 
 

 
(Yen) 

 
 

 
 

Ordinary 

General 

Meeting of 

Shareholders 

held on June 

21, 2024  

(*1, 2, 4) 

 

Common 

stock 

 

¥ 35,680 

 

Retained 

earnings 

 

¥ 150 

 

March 31, 

2024 

 

June 24, 2024 

             

Board of 

Directors’ 

Meeting held 

on November 

5, 2024  

(*1, 3, 5) 

 

Common 

stock 

 

  33,702 

 

Retained 

earnings 

 

   50 

 

September 30, 

2024 

 

December 3, 

2024 

 

(*1) The Company split its common shares on the basis of one share into three shares effective April 

1, 2024. 

 

(*2) “Cash dividends per share” resolved at the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders on June 

21, 2024 shows the amount before the stock split on April 1, 2024, because the record date is 

March 31, 2024. 

 

(*3) “Cash dividends per share” resolved at the Board of Directors’ Meeting on November 5, 2024 

shows the amount after the stock split on April 1, 2024, because the record date is September 30, 

2024. 

 

(*4) The total amount of dividends resolved at the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders on June 

21, 2024 includes ¥325 million of dividends on the Company’s shares held by The Custody Bank 

of Japan, Ltd. as trust assets of the “Board Benefit Trust (BBT)”. 

 

(*5) The total amount of dividends resolved at the Board of Directors’ Meeting on November 5, 2024 

includes ¥312 million of dividends on the Company’s shares held by The Custody Bank of Japan, 

Ltd. as trust assets of the “Board Benefit Trust (BBT)”. 
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10. Shareholders’ Equity (continued) 

 

Dividends with the record date falling in the year ended March 31, 2025 and with the effective date 

falling in the following fiscal year: 

 

Resolution 
 

Class of 
shares 

 Total 
amount 

of dividend 

 
Source of 
dividend 

 Cash 
dividends 
per share 

 
Record date 

 
Effective date 

 
 

 
 (Millions of 

yen) 

 
 

 
(Yen) 

 
 

 
 

Approved at the 

shareholders’ 

meeting held 

on June 20, 

2025 (*) 

 

Common 

stock 

 

¥ 31,902 

 

Retained 

earnings 

 

¥ 50 

 

March 31, 

2025 

 

June 23, 2025 

 

(*) The total amount of dividends resolved at the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders on June 

20, 2025 includes ¥312 million of dividends on the shares of the Company held by The Custody 

Bank of Japan, Ltd. as trust assets of the “Board Benefit Trust (BBT)”.



- 50 - 

 

11. Accumulated Depreciation 

 

Accumulated depreciation of vessels, property and equipment at March 31, 2024 and 2025 is as 

follows: 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Accumulated depreciation ¥ 417,059  ¥ 454,694 

 

12. Investments in Unconsolidated Subsidiaries and Affiliates 

 

Amounts corresponding to unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates as of March 31, 2024 and 2025 

are as follows: 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Investment securities (Equity securities) ¥ 1,102,174  ¥ 1,191,141 

(For the portion of investments in jointly 

controlled entities) 
 

(1,063,222)   (1,147,018) 

Other investments and other assets 

(Investment funds) 
 

1,664   2,300 

(For the portion of investments in jointly 

controlled entities) 
 

(1,349)   (1,984) 
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13. Land Revaluation 

 

The Company and a certain domestic consolidated subsidiary revalued the land used in their business 

in accordance with the Act on Revaluation of Land (Act No. 34, March 31, 1998) and the Act to 

Partially Revise the Act on Revaluation of Land (Act No. 19, March 31, 2001). The effect of this 

revaluation has been recorded as revaluation reserve for land in net assets, excluding the related 

deferred tax liabilities on land revaluation. 

 

The timing of the revaluation was effective March 31, 2002. 

 

A certain domestic affiliate accounted for by the equity method also revalued the land used in their 

business in accordance with the Act on Revaluation of Land (Act No. 34, March 31, 1998) and the Act 

to Partially Revise the Act on Revaluation of Land (Act No. 19, March 31, 2001). The effect of this 

revaluation has been recorded as revaluation reserve for land in net assets. 

 

The revaluation of land for business use was calculated by making rational adjustments to the prices 

posted in accordance with the provision of Article 6 of the Public Notice of Land Prices Act for 

standard sites set forth in Article 6 of the same act in the same neighborhood as the relevant land for 

business use pursuant to Article 2, Paragraph 1 of the Order for Enforcement of the Act on Revaluation 

of Land (Cabinet Order No. 119 of 1998). However, for some land, the revaluation was calculated by 

making rational adjustments to standard prices assessed in accordance with the provision of Article 9, 

Paragraph 1 of the Order for Enforcement of the National Land Use Planning Act for standard sites 

set forth in Article 7, Paragraph 1, Item 1 (a) of the same order in the same neighborhood as the relevant 

land for business use pursuant to Article 2, Paragraph 2 of the Order for Enforcement of the Act on 

Revaluation of Land, by making rational adjustments to land prices registered in the land tax ledger 

set forth in Article 341, Item 10 of the Local Tax Act or in the supplementary land tax ledger set forth 

in Article 341, Item 11 of the same act for the relevant land for business use pursuant to Article 2, 

Paragraph 3 of the Order for Enforcement of the Act on Revaluation of Land, or by making rational 

adjustments to the value calculated by the method established and issued by the Director-General of 

the National Tax Agency for computing land value that serves as a basis for the calculation of the 

taxable amount for land value tax set forth in Article 16 of the Land-Holding Tax Act for the relevant 

land for business use pursuant to Article 2, Item 4 of the Order for Enforcement of the Act on 

Revaluation of Land. 

 

At March 31, 2024 and 2025, the fair value of land was lower than its carrying value after revaluation 

by ¥2,680 million and ¥2,610 million, respectively. 
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14. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities 

 

Contingent liabilities for guarantees of loans to affiliates and third-party companies and obligations 

for additional investment, etc. as of March 31, 2024 and 2025 are as follows: 

 

 2024  2025 
Description of liabilities 

guaranteed 

Guarantees of loans: (Millions of yen)  

DANAE GAS SHIPPING INC. ¥ 
- 

 ¥ 5,592 
Loans for the construction of 

vessels 

ARTEMIS GAS 1 SHIPPING INC.  
-   4,135 

Loans for the construction of 

vessels 

ICE GAS LNG SHIPPING CO., 

LTD. 
 3,885 

  3,097 

Loans for the construction of 

vessels etc 

BANGKOK COLD STORAGE 

SERVICE, LTD. 
 

2,037   2,021 

Loans for the construction of 

equipment 

OASIS LNG NO. 8 PTE. LTD.  
-   1,726 

Loans for the construction of 

vessels 

OASIS LNG NO. 9 PTE. LTD.  
-   1,673 

Loans for the construction of 

vessels 

Other 11 (8 in the previous fiscal 

year) 
 2,031   7,113 

Loans for the construction of 

vessels others 

Total ¥ 7,955  ¥ 25,359  

 

 2024  2025 
Description of liabilities 

guaranteed 

Obligations for additional investment, 

etc.: 
(Millions of yen) 

 

OCEANIC BREEZE LNG 

TRANSPORT S.A. 
¥ 4,466  ¥ 4,411 

Loans for the construction of 

vessels 

Total ¥ 4,466  ¥ 4,411  
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15. Financial Instruments 

 

1. Status of financial instruments 

 

The Group obtains necessary funding, mainly through bank loans and the issuance of bonds, in 

accordance with their capital expenditure plans. Temporary excess funds are invested in highly liquid 

financial assets, and short-term operating funds are financed by bank loans. The Group utilizes 

derivatives only for avoiding risks, and does not utilize them for speculation. 

 

Trade accounts and notes receivable are exposed to credit risk in the event of the nonperformance by 

counterparties. As revenues from marine transportation are mainly denominated in foreign currencies, 

trade receivables are exposed to foreign currency exchange risk and a portion of them, net of trade 

payables denominated in the same foreign currencies, are hedged by forward foreign exchange 

contracts. Future trade receivables such as for freight and chartered vessels are exposed to market 

risks, and some of them are hedged by forward freight agreements. The Group holds investment 

securities, which are mainly issued by companies who have a business relationship or capital alliance 

with the Group, and these securities are exposed to the risk of fluctuation in market prices. The Group 

also has long-term loans receivable mainly from other subsidiaries and affiliates. 

 

The Group has trade accounts and notes payable, which have payment due dates within one year. 

Funds for certain capital expenditures, such as construction of vessels denominated in foreign 

currencies, are exposed to foreign currency exchange risk, which are hedged by forward foreign 

exchange contracts. Future trade payables such as payments for bunker fuel are exposed to the risk of 

fluctuation of market prices, and some of them are hedged by bunker fuel swap contracts. Loans 

payable, bonds and lease obligations for finance lease contracts are taken out principally for the 

purpose of making capital investments. The repayment dates of long-term debt extend up to 32 years 

subsequent to the balance sheet date. Certain elements of these transactions are exposed to interest rate 

fluctuation risk. The Group hedges this risk by entering into interest rate swap transactions. The Group 

has entered into currency swap contracts to hedge foreign currency exchange risk against trade 

payables. 

 

Regarding derivatives, the Group has entered into: 1) forward foreign exchange contracts and currency 

swap contracts to hedge foreign currency exchange risk arising from investments in the overseas 

subsidiaries, etc., receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies and funds for capital 

investment to acquire operating assets such as vessels and others; 2) bunker fuel swap contracts to 

hedge the risk of bunker fuel price fluctuation; 3) forward freight agreements to hedge the risk of 

fluctuation of market prices; and 4) interest-rate swap contracts to hedge the risk of interest rate 

fluctuation arising from interest payables for long-term payables. 
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15. Financial Instruments (continued) 

 

1. Status of financial instruments (continued) 

 

For information on hedge accounting policies of the Group, see Note 1. Summary of Significant 

Accounting Policies, (x) Derivatives and hedging activities. 

 

The Company monitors regularly the condition of major business counterparties by each related 

business division with whom the Company has accounts receivable for business or loans receivable, 

and manages the outstanding balances and due dates by counterparties, to minimize the risk of default 

arising from any decline in the financial condition of counterparties. Its consolidated subsidiaries also 

monitor the condition of accounts receivable and loans receivable under a similar management policy. 

 

The Group believes that the credit risk of derivatives is insignificant as the Group enters into 

derivatives transactions only with financial institutions which have a sound credit profile. 

 

For investments in the overseas subsidiaries, etc., receivables and payables denominated in foreign 

currencies and future loans related to investment in vessels, the Company has entered into currency 

swap and forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge foreign currency exchange rate fluctuation risk, 

and interest-rate swap contracts to minimize interest rate fluctuation risk of loans. 

 

For investment securities, the Company continuously reviews the condition of holding securities 

considering the stock market and the relationship with issuing companies, taking into account market 

value of securities and financial condition of issuing companies in accordance with internal 

regulations. 

 

The Company enters into derivative transactions with the approval from authorized officers in 

accordance with internal regulations, which set forth transaction authority and maximum upper limit 

on positions. Results of derivative transactions are regularly reported at the executive officers meeting. 

Its consolidated subsidiaries also manage derivative transactions under similar regulations. 

 

The Company manages liquidity risk by preparing and updating cash management plan on timely basis 

and maintaining liquid instruments on hand based on reports from each business group. 

 

The fair value of financial instruments can fluctuate because different assumptions may be adopted for 

calculations of fair value considering various factors. In addition, the notional amounts of derivatives 

in Note 16. Derivatives and Hedging Activities are not necessarily indicative of the actual market 

exposure involved in the derivative transactions. 
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15. Financial Instruments (continued) 

 

2. Estimated fair value of financial instruments 

 

The carrying value of financial instruments on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2024, 

and the estimated fair value and the difference between them are shown in the following table. In 

addition, the fair value of “cash and deposits,” “accounts and notes receivable – trade and contract 

assets,” and “accounts and notes payable-trade,” is omitted because they are cash and their fair value 

approximates carrying value due to the short maturities of these instruments. 

 

 2024 

 
Carrying 

value 
 

Estimated 
fair value 

 
 

Difference 
         

 (Millions of yen) 

Assets         

Investment securities:         

Other securities ¥ 24,293  ¥ 24,305  ¥ 12 

Investments in 

unconsolidated subsidiaries 

and affiliates 

 

4,824   1,161   (3,663) 

Total assets ¥ 29,117  ¥ 25,467  ¥ (3,650) 

         

Liabilities         

Short-term debt:         

Short-term loans and current 

portion of long-term loans 
 

(49,135)   (49,125)   9 

Long-term debt, less current 

portion: 
        

Bonds  (8,000)   (7,947)   52 

Long-term loans  (206,107)   (206,066)   41 

Total liabilities ¥ (263,242)  ¥ (263,139)  ¥ 103 

         

Derivative transactions (*) ¥ (2,258)  ¥ (2,258)  ¥ － 
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15. Financial Instruments (continued) 

 

2. Estimated fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

 

Unquoted securities as of March 31, 2024 are as follows. They are not included in the table above. 

 

 2024 

 (Millions of yen) 

Unlisted investment securities ¥ 1,110,853 

 

(*) The value of assets and liabilities arising from derivative transactions is shown at net value, and 

the amounts in parentheses represent net liability position. 
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15. Financial Instruments (continued) 

 

2. Estimated fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

 

The carrying value of financial instruments on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2025, 

and the estimated fair value and the difference between them are shown in the following table. In 

addition, the fair value of “cash and deposits,” “accounts and notes receivable – trade and contract 

assets,” and “accounts and notes payable-trade,” is omitted because they are cash and their fair value 

approximates carrying value due to the short maturities of these instruments. 

 

 2025 

 
Carrying 

value 
 

Estimated 
fair value 

 
 

Difference 
         
 (Millions of yen) 

Assets         

Investment securities:         

Other securities ¥ 24,454  ¥ 24,463  ¥ 8 

Investments in 

unconsolidated subsidiaries 

and affiliates 

 

4,955 

  

1,168 

  

(3,786) 

Total assets ¥ 29,410  ¥ 25,631  ¥ (3,778) 

         

Liabilities         

Short-term debt:         

Short-term loans and current 

portion of long-term loans 
 

(51,412) 
  

(51,397) 
  

15 

Long-term debt, less current 

portion: 
        

Bonds  (14,000)   (13,622)   377 

Long-term loans  (229,840)   (229,767)   72 

Total liabilities ¥ (295,253)  ¥ (294,787)  ¥ 465 

         

Derivative transactions (*) ¥ (1,371)  ¥ (1,371)  ¥ － 
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15. Financial Instruments (continued) 

 

2. Estimated fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

 

Unquoted securities as of March 31, 2025 are as follows. They are not included in the table above. 

 

 2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Unlisted investment securities ¥ 1,200,690 

 

(*) The value of assets and liabilities arising from derivative transactions is shown at net value, and 

the amounts in parentheses represent net liability position. 

 

3. Redemption schedule for cash and deposits, accounts and notes receivable – trade and 

held-to-maturity securities 

 

The redemption schedule as of March 31, 2025 for cash and deposits, accounts and notes receivable 

– trade and held-to-maturity securities is summarized as follows: 

 

 2025 

 
 

Within 
1 year 

 
Over 1 year 

within 
5 years 

 
Over 5 years 

within 
10 years 

 
 

Over 
10 years 

            
 (Millions of yen) 

Cash and deposits ¥ 204,716  ¥ －  ¥ －  ¥ － 

Accounts and notes 

receivable-trade and contract 

assets  113,917   －   －   － 

Total ¥ 318,634  ¥ －  ¥ －  ¥ － 

 

4. Redemption schedule for short-term loans and long-term debt 

 

The redemption schedule as of March 31, 2025 for short-term loans and long-term debt is as 

provided in Note 6. 
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15. Financial Instruments (continued) 

 

5. Breakdown of fair value of financial instruments by level 

 

Financial instruments are classified into the following three levels based on the observability and 

materiality of the inputs used to calculate fair value. 

 

Level 1: Fair value calculated based on quoted market prices for the assets or liabilities for which 

such fair value is available in active markets as the inputs used in the calculation of 

observable fair value 

Level 2: Fair value calculated using inputs for the calculation of observable fair value other than 

Level 1 inputs 

Level 3: Fair value calculated using inputs that are unobservable 

 

When multiple inputs that have a significant impact on the calculation of fair value are used, fair value 

is classified to the level with the lowest priority in the calculation of fair value among the levels to 

which each of those inputs belongs. 
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15. Financial Instruments (continued) 

 

5. Breakdown of fair value of financial instruments by level (continued) 

 

(1) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value by level 

 

 2024 

 Estimated fair value 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
            
 (Millions of yen) 

Investment securities:            

Other securities ¥ 24,258  ¥ －  ¥ －  ¥ 24,258 

Derivative transactions:            

Forward foreign exchange 

contracts  －   1,490   －   1,490 

Forward freight agreements  －   74   －   74 

Currency swaps  －   －   －   － 

Interest rate swaps  －   1,349   －   1,349 

Bunker fuel swaps  －   211   －   211 

Total assets ¥ 24,258  ¥ 3,125  ¥ －  ¥ 27,384 

Derivative transactions:            

Forward foreign exchange 

contracts ¥ －  ¥ (485)  ¥ －  ¥ (485) 

Forward freight agreements  －   (2,026)   －   (2,026) 

Currency swaps  －   (1,861)   －   (1,861) 

Interest rate swaps  －   (1,011)   －   (1,011) 

Bunker fuel swaps  －   －   －   － 

Total liabilities ¥ －  ¥ (5,384)  ¥ －  ¥ (5,384) 
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15. Financial Instruments (continued) 

 

5. Breakdown of fair value of financial instruments by level (continued) 

 

(1) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value by level (continued) 

 

 2025 

 Estimated fair value 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
            
 (Millions of yen) 

Investment securities:            

Other securities ¥ 24,421  ¥ －  ¥ －  ¥ 24,421 

Derivative transactions:            

Forward foreign exchange 

contracts  －   85   －   85 

Forward freight agreements  －   21   －   21 

Currency swaps  －   －   －   － 

Interest rate swaps  －   746   －   746 

Bunker fuel swaps  －   0   －   0 

Total assets ¥ 24,421  ¥ 855  ¥ －  ¥ 25,277 

Derivative transactions:            

Forward foreign exchange 

contracts ¥ －  ¥ －  ¥ －  ¥ － 

Forward freight agreements  －   (104)   －   (104) 

Currency swaps  －   (1,635)   －   (1,635) 

Interest rate swaps  －   (485)   －   (485) 

Bunker fuel swaps  －   0   －   0 

Total liabilities ¥ －  ¥ (2,226)  ¥ －  ¥ (2,226) 
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15. Financial Instruments (continued) 

 

5. Breakdown of fair value of financial instruments by level (continued) 

 

(2) Financial assets and liabilities other than those measured at fair value by level 

 

 2024 

 Estimated fair value 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
            
 (Millions of yen) 

Investment securities:            

Other securities ¥ －  ¥ 47  ¥ －  ¥ 47 

Investments in 

unconsolidated  

subsidiaries and affiliates  1,161   －   －   1,161 

Total assets ¥ 1,161  ¥ 47  ¥ －  ¥ 1,208 

Short-term debt:            

Short-term loans and current  

portion of long-term loans ¥ －  ¥ (49,125)  ¥ －  ¥ (49,125) 

Long-term debt, less current 

portion: 
           

Bonds  －   (7,947)   －   (7,947) 

Long-term loans  －   (206,066)   －   (206,066) 

Total liabilities ¥ －  ¥ (263,139)  ¥ －  ¥ (263,139) 
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15. Financial Instruments (continued) 

 

5. Breakdown of fair value of financial instruments by level (continued) 

 

(2) Financial assets and liabilities other than those measured at fair value by level (continued) 

 

 2025 

 Estimated fair value 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
            
 (Millions of yen) 

Investment securities:            

Other securities ¥ －  ¥ 41  ¥ －  ¥ 41 

Investments in 

unconsolidated 

subsidiaries and affiliates  1,168   －   －   1,168 

Total assets ¥ 1,168  ¥ 41  ¥ －  ¥ 1,209 

Short-term debt:            

Short-term loans and current 

portion of long-term loans ¥ －  ¥ (51,397)  ¥ －  ¥ (51,397) 

Long-term debt, less current 

portion: 
           

Bonds  －   (13,622)   －   (13,622) 

Long-term loans  －   (229,767)   －   (229,767) 

Total liabilities ¥ －  ¥ (294,787)  ¥ －  ¥ (294,787) 

 

(*) Description of valuation techniques used and inputs related to the calculation of fair value 

 

Investment securities 

 

The fair value of marketable securities and golf memberships is the quoted market price. 

Marketable securities listed and traded on an active market are classified as Level 1. Golf 

memberships are classified as Level 2 because they are traded so infrequently that the underlying 

transaction prices cannot be used as the basis for a quoted in an active market. 
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15. Financial Instruments (continued) 

 

5. Breakdown of fair value of financial instruments by level (continued) 

 

(2) Financial assets and liabilities other than those measured at fair value by level (continued) 

 

Short-term loans 

 

The fair value of short-term loans is determined by carrying value as most of them are settled 

within a short term and their fair value approximates carrying value. Current portion of long-term 

loans in short-term loans are determined as described long-term loans below. 

 

Bonds 

 

The fair value of the bonds issued by the Company is determined using the discounted present 

value method based on the total amount of principal and interest and an interest rate that takes 

into account the remaining term of the bonds and credit risk, and is classified as Level 2 fair 

value. 

 

Long-term loans 

 

The fair value of long-term loans is determined using the discounted present value method based 

on the total amount of principal and an interest rate that would be applicable to a similar new 

borrowing, and is classified as Level 2 fair value. 

 

Derivative transactions 

 

Forward foreign exchange contracts, forward freight agreements, currency swaps, interest rate 

swaps and bunker fuel swaps, of which fair value is based on prices provided by counterparty 

financial institutions and measured by using observable inputs such as interest rates or exchange 

rates, are classified as Level 2. 
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16. Derivatives and Hedging Activities 

 

1. Derivative transactions not qualifying for hedge accounting 

 

Information on the estimated fair value of the derivatives positions outstanding not qualified for 

deferral hedge accounting at March 31, 2024 is summarized as follows: 

 

Others 

 

    2024 

 
 

Method of 
hedge 

accounting 

 

 
 
 
 

Transaction 

 

Total contract 
value 

(notional 
principal 
amount) 

 

Contract value 
(notional 
principal 
amount) 

over one year 

 

 
 
 

Estimated 
fair value 

 

 
 
 

Gain (loss) on 
valuation 

               
    (Millions of yen) 

Transactions 

other than 

market 

transactions 

 
Forward freight 

agreements 
 

¥ 4,317  ¥ 36  ¥ (1,185)  ¥ (1,185) 

 
 

Total 
 

¥ 4,317  ¥ 36  ¥ (1,185)  ¥ (1,185) 

 

Information on the estimated fair value of the derivatives positions outstanding not qualified for 

deferral hedge accounting at March 31, 2025 is omitted due to its immateriality. 
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16. Derivatives and Hedging Activities (continued) 

 

2. Derivative transactions qualifying for hedge accounting 

 

The estimated fair value of the derivatives positions outstanding qualified for deferral hedge 

accounting at March 31, 2024 and 2025 are summarized as follows: 

 

(1) Currency-related transactions 

 

      2024 

 
 

Method of 
hedge 

accounting 

 

 
 
 
 

Transaction 

 

 
 
 
 

Major hedged item 

 

Total contract 
value 

(notional 
principal 
amount) 

 

Contract value 
(notional 
principal 
amount) 

over one year 

 

 
 
 

Estimated 
fair value 

              
      (Millions of yen) 

Deferral 

hedge 
 

Forward foreign 

exchange contracts 
           

  Buying:            

  
USD 

 
Capital expenditures and 

others 
 

¥ 5,283  ¥ －  ¥ 1,490 

  Selling:            

  
USD 

 
Forecasted foreign currency 

transactions 
 

 3,968   －   (485) 

  Currency swaps            

  Selling:            

  

Receiving JPY, 

  paying USD  

Vessel chartering revenues 

and forecasted foreign 

currency transactions 

 

 5,897   5,897   (1,861) 

  Total    ¥ 15,149  ¥ 5,897  ¥ (855) 

 

      2025 

 
 

Method of 

hedge 
accounting 

 

 
 
 
 

Transaction 

 

 
 
 
 

Major hedged item 

 

Total contract 
value 

(notional 

principal 
amount) 

 

Contract value 
(notional 
principal 

amount) 
over one year 

 

 
 
 

Estimated 
fair value 

              
      (Millions of yen) 

Deferral 

  hedge 
 

Forward foreign 

exchange contracts 
           

  Buying:            

  
USD 

 
Capital expenditures and 

others 
 

¥ －  ¥ －  ¥ － 

  Selling:            

  
USD 

 
Forecasted foreign currency 

transactions 
 

 3,345   －   85 

  Currency swaps            

  Selling:            

  

Receiving JPY, 

paying USD  

Vessel chartering revenues 

and forecasted foreign 

currency transactions 

 

 4,978   4,978   (1,635) 

  Total    ¥ 8,323  ¥ 4,978  ¥ (1,549) 
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16. Derivatives and Hedging Activities (continued) 

 

2. Derivative transactions qualifying for hedge accounting (continued) 

 

(2) Interest rate-related transactions 

 

      2024 

 
 
 

Method of hedge 
accounting 

 

 
 
 
 

Transaction 

 

 
 
 
 

Major hedged item 

 

Total contract 
value 

(notional 
principal 
amount) 

 

Contract value 
(notional 
principal 
amount) 

over one year 

 

 
 
 

Estimated 
fair value 

              
      (Millions of yen) 

Deferral hedge  Interest rate swaps  Long-term loans          

  
  Receive floating / 

Pay fixed 
   

¥ 42,386  ¥ 42,302  ¥ 337 

  Total    ¥ 42,386  ¥ 42,302  ¥ 337 

 

      2025 

 
 
 

Method of hedge 
accounting 

 

 
 
 
 

Transaction 

 

 
 
 
 

Major hedged item 

 

Total contract 
value 

(notional 

principal 
amount) 

 

Contract value 
(notional 
principal 

amount) 
over one year 

 

 
 
 

Estimated 
fair value 

              
      (Millions of yen) 

Deferral hedge  Interest rate swaps  Long-term loans          

  
  Receive floating / 

Pay fixed 
   

¥ 35,720  ¥ 35,720  ¥ 261 

  Total    ¥ 35,720  ¥ 35,720  ¥ 261 
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16. Derivatives and Hedging Activities (continued) 

 

2. Derivative transactions qualifying for hedge accounting (continued) 

 

(3) Others 

 

      2024 

 
 
 

Method of hedge 
accounting 

 

 
 
 
 

Transaction 

 

 
 
 
 

Major hedged item 

 

Total contract 
value 

(notional 
principal 
amount) 

 

Contract value 
(notional 
principal 
amount) 

over one year 

 

 
 
 

Estimated 
fair value 

              
      (Millions of yen) 

Deferral hedge  Bunker fuel swaps 
 

Bunker fuelpurchases 
 

¥ 1,914  ¥ 147  ¥ 211 

  
Forward freight 

  agreements 
 

Ocean freight 
 

 3,857   －   (766) 

  Total    ¥ 5,772  ¥ 147  ¥ (554) 

 

      2025 

 
 
 

Method of hedge 
accounting 

 

 
 
 
 

Transaction 

 

 
 
 
 

Major hedged item 

 

Total contract 
value 

(notional 

principal 
amount) 

 

Contract value 
(notional 
principal 

amount) 
over one year 

 

 
 
 

Estimated 
fair value 

              
      (Millions of yen) 

Deferral hedge  Bunker fuel swaps 
 

Bunker fuel purchases 
 

¥ 144  ¥ －  ¥ 0 

  
Forward freight 

agreements 
 

Ocean freight 
 

 1,862   －   (71) 

  Total    ¥ 2,006  ¥ －  ¥ (71) 
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17. Other Comprehensive Income 

 

The following table presents reclassification adjustments, income taxes and tax effects allocated to 

each component of other comprehensive income for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2025. 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Net unrealized holding gain (loss) on investment 

  securities: 
     

Amount arising during the year ¥ 9,146  ¥ 312 

Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss  －   (19) 

Income taxes and amount before tax effect  9,146   292 

Income taxes and tax effect  (2,661)   (284) 

Net unrealized holding gain (loss) on investment 

securities  6,484   7 

Deferred gain (loss) on hedges:      

Amount arising during the year  (1,472)   622 

Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss  2,877   1,685 

Adjustments for acquisition costs of vessels due to 

valuation of hedges  49   (2,068) 

Income taxes and amount before tax effect  1,455   239 

Income taxes and tax effect  (842)   59 

Deferred gain (loss) on hedges  613   299 

Revaluation reserve for land:      

Income taxes and tax effect  －   (35) 

Revaluation reserve for land  －   (35) 

Translation adjustments:      

Amount arising during the year  16,228   (1,231) 

Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss  22   (241) 

Translation adjustments  16,250   (1,472) 

Retirement benefits liability adjustments:      

Amount arising during the year  2,492   1,696 

Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss  603   437 

Income taxes and amount before tax effect  3,096   2,133 

Income taxes and tax effect  (342)   (704) 

Retirement benefits liability adjustments  2,754   1,428 

 

 

 

 



- 70 - 

 

17. Other Comprehensive Income (continued) 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Share of other comprehensive income of subsidiaries 

and affiliates accounted for by the equity method: 
     

Amount arising during the year  125,748   (15,026) 

Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss  (1,002)   (991) 

Share of other comprehensive income of subsidiaries  

and affiliates accounted for by the equity method  124,746   (16,017) 

Total other comprehensive income ¥ 150,848  ¥ (15,789) 
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18. Supplementary Information on Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

 

Cash and cash equivalents in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the years 

ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 are reconciled to cash and deposits reflected in the accompanying 

Consolidated Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2024 and 2025 as follows: 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Cash and deposits ¥ 272,616  ¥ 204,716 

Time deposits with a maturity of more than 

three months after the purchase date  (3,141)   (3,159) 

Cash and cash equivalents ¥ 269,474  ¥ 201,557 

 

The amounts of important non-financial transactions for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 are 

as follows: 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Cancellation of treasury stock ¥ 55,743  ¥ 165,455 
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19. Amounts per Share 

 

Amounts per share at March 31, 2024 and 2025 and for the years then ended are as follows: 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Yen) 

Net assets ¥ 2,251.81  ¥ 2,609.68 

Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the parent:      

Basic  141.37   460.11 

 

Net assets per share have been computed based on the number of shares of common stock outstanding 

at the year end. 

 

Basic profit (loss) attributable to owners of the parent per share has been computed based on profit 

(loss) attributable to shareholders of common stock and the weighted-average number of shares of 

common stock outstanding during the year. 

 

Diluted profit attributable to owners of the parent per share for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 

2025 has not been presented because dilutive potential common shares do not exist. 

 

The Company split its common shares on the basis of one share into three shares effective April 1, 

2024. Accordingly, net assets per share and profit (loss) per share are calculated on the assumption that 

the stock split was conducted at the beginning of the previous fiscal year ended March 31, 2024. 

 

The Company has changed the foreign currency conversion method into Japanese yen for income and 

expenses of foreign subsidiaries and affiliates from using the spot rate on the financial closing date to 

the average rate during the fiscal year from the beginning of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025. 

This change in accounting policy has been retroactively applied, and comparative amounts for the 

previous fiscal year have been retroactively adjusted. 

 

The Company introduced a share remuneration plan “Board Benefit Trust (BBT)”. The shares held by 

the Trust are included in treasury stock, which is deducted in calculating the number of shares of 

common stock outstanding at the year end and the weighted-average number of shares of common 

stock outstanding during the year when calculating the net assets per share at the end of the year and 

the basic profit (loss) attributable to owners of the parent per share during the current year. 

 

The number of shares held by the Trust at the end of the year was 6,503,700 shares and 6,243,300 

shares for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2025, respectively. 

 

The weighted-average number of shares held by the Trust during the year was 4,951,200 shares and 

6,319,154 shares for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2025, respectively.  
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19. Amounts per Share (continued) 

 

The financial data used in the computation of basic profit (loss) attributable to owners of the parent 

per share for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 in the table above is summarized as follows: 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the parent ¥ 101,989  ¥ 305,384 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Thousands of shares) 

Weighted-average number of shares of common 

stock outstanding  721,415   663,714 
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20. Revenue Recognition 

 

1. Information on disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers 

 

Revenues arising from contracts with customers and other revenues are not presented separately. 

Information on disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers for the year ended 

March 31, 2025 is described in Note 21 “Segment Information.” 

 

2. Foundational information for understanding revenue from contracts with customers 

 

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized based on the following five-step approach 

at the amount of the consideration for which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for 

transferring goods or services. 

 

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer 

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract 

Step 3: Determine the transaction price 

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the separate performance obligations in the contract 

Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as), the performance obligations are satisfied 
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20. Revenue Recognition (continued) 

 

2. Foundational information for understanding revenue from contracts with customers 

(continued) 

 

The performance obligations as part of the Group’s business are primarily as follows. 

 

(1) Freight revenue 

 

Regarding voyage charter contracts, one voyage unit is judged a single performance 

obligation and contract based on understanding to agreement with customers. The transaction 

price is determined based on the amount billed per voyage and allocated to a performance 

obligation based on the amount agreed with the customers for each voyage and includes 

variable consideration such as demurrage charges and dispatch charges. If variable 

consideration is included in the consideration for the contract with customers, it is recorded 

in the transaction price only if it is highly likely that there will be no significant reduction in 

the revenue recorded up to the time when the degree of uncertainty regarding variable 

consideration is finally resolved. Given the nature of the voyage, it is expected that the 

customer will receive benefits as the entity fulfills its obligations in its contract with the 

customer. Therefore, the Company has determined that this is a performance obligation that 

will be satisfied as the voyage progresses, and recognizes revenue based on the degree of 

progress made in satisfying the performance obligation. Progress is measured based on the 

number of elapsed days of a voyage to the end of the period relative to the estimated total 

number of days of voyage days. The consideration for the transactions is mainly invoiced 

upon completion of loading of cargoes and the majority of the consideration is received by 

the completion of the voyage, while variable consideration, such as demurrage charges and 

dispatch charges, are invoiced after the berthing period is fixed. The consideration does not 

include a significant financing component. 

 

(2) Charter rates 

 

Time charter contracts entitle the Company to receive from the customer a consideration 

whose amount corresponds directly to the value to the customer for the portion of the 

Company’s performance obligation satisfied to date, such as an agreement to charge a fixed 

amount based on the time of service rendered. In accordance with the treatment in the 

application guidelines of Article 19 of the Accounting Standard for Revenue Recognition, the 

Company recognizes revenue at the amount the Company has a right to claim from the 

customer. 
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20. Revenue Recognition (continued) 

 

3. Information for understanding the amounts for the year ended March 31, 2025 and 

subsequent years 

 

(1) Balance of contract assets and contract liabilities 

 

The breakdown of accounts receivable arising from contracts with customers, contract assets 

and contract liabilities as of March 31, 2024 and 2025 is as follows: 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Accounts receivable arising from 

contracts with customers: 
     

Notes receivable ¥ 640  ¥ 692 

Accounts receivable  119,709   102,395 

  120,350   103,088 

Contract assets  9,282   10,829 

Contract liabilities ¥ 28,297  ¥ 26,836 

 

The beginning balance of contract liabilities was mainly recognized in revenue for the year 

ended March 31, 2025. The timing of satisfying performance obligations and the normal 

timing of payments are described above in 2 “Foundational information for understanding 

revenue from contracts with customers.” Changes in the balance of contract assets are mainly 

due to the recognition of revenues and transfer to accounts receivable. Changes in the balance 

of contract liabilities are mainly due to the receipt of considerations in advance from 

customers and the satisfaction of performance obligations. Revenue recognized for 

performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in past periods is immaterial. 

Receivables other than those arising from contracts with customers for the years ended March 

31, 2024 and 2025 are not classified because their amounts are immaterial. 
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20. Revenue Recognition (continued) 

 

3. Information for understanding the amounts for the year ended March 31, 2025 and 

subsequent years (continued) 

 

(2) Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations 

 

As described above in 2 “Foundational information for understanding revenue from contracts 

with customers,” the Group recognizes each voyage as a single performance obligation and 

also contract voyage. Since a voyage is normally completed within a year, the Company 

applies the provisions of Article 80-22 (1) of the Accounting Standard for Revenue 

Recognition and therefore omits related information in the notes. 

 

For contracts involving the long-term time-charter of vessels, as described above in 2 

“Foundational information for understanding revenue from contracts with customers,” the 

Company also recognizes revenue from the satisfaction of performance obligations in 

accordance with the provision of Article 19 of Implementation Guidance on Accounting 

Standard for Revenue Recognition, and accordingly, the Company omits related information 

in the notes in accordance with the provisions of Article 80-22 (2) of the Accounting Standard 

for Revenue Recognition. 
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21. Segment Information 

 

1. Overview of reporting segments 

 

The Company’s reporting segments are its structural units, for which separate financial 

information is available, and which are subject to periodic review by the Board of Directors in 

order to assist decision-making on the allocation of managerial resources and assessment of 

business performance. 

 

The Group is a shipping business organization centering on marine transportation service and has 

three reporting segments, which are the dry bulk segment, the energy resource transport segment 

and the product logistics segment, considering the economic characteristics, service contents and 

method of the provision and categorization of the market and customers. 

 

The dry bulk segment includes dry bulk business. The energy resource transport segment includes 

LNG carrier business, electricity business, tanker carrier business, and offshore business. The 

product logistics segment includes car carrier business, logistics business, short sea and coastal 

business, and containership business. 

 

2. Calculation method of reporting segment profit (loss) 

 

Reporting segment profit (loss) represents based on ordinary income (loss). Inter-group revenues 

and transfers are inter-group transactions which are based on market price and other. 
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21. Segment Information (continued) 

 

3. Information on operating revenues, profit or loss, assets, and other items by each reporting 

segment 

 

Reporting segment information for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 consisted of the 

following: 

 
 (Millions of yen) 

 2024 

 

 
 
 

Dry bulk 

 

 
Energy 

resource 
transport 

 

 
 

Product 
logistics 

 

 
 

Other 
(*1) 

 

 
 
 

Total 

 

Adjustments 
and 

eliminations 
(*2) 

 

 
 
 

Consolidated 

1. Revenues:                     

Revenues from contract 

with customers ¥ 290,094  ¥ 102,507  ¥ 544,516  ¥ 9,970  ¥ 947,088  ¥ －  ¥ 947,088 

Other revenues  3,421   3,155   4,154   118   10,850   －   10,850 

Operating revenues from 

customers ¥ 293,516  ¥ 105,662  ¥ 548,671  ¥ 10,089  ¥ 957,939  ¥ －  ¥ 957,939 

Inter-group revenues and 

transfers  94   15   4,330   68,688   73,128   (73,128)   － 

Total revenues ¥ 293,610  ¥ 105,678  ¥ 553,001  ¥ 78,777  ¥ 1,031,068  ¥ (73,128)  ¥ 957,939 

2. Segment profit (loss) (*3) ¥ 3,593  ¥ 7,512  ¥ 128,621  ¥ 1,433  ¥ 141,161  ¥ (8,432)  ¥ 132,728 

3. Segment assets ¥ 248,392  ¥ 255,602  ¥ 1,552,490  ¥ 47,265  ¥ 2,103,750  ¥ 5,682  ¥ 2,109,432 

4. Others                     

Depreciation and 

amortization ¥ 15,387  ¥ 10,901  ¥ 17,277  ¥ 737  ¥ 44,303  ¥ 246  ¥ 44,550 

Interest income  237   742   595   120   1,695   2,058   3,754 

Interest expenses  2,329   2,344   309   28   5,012   4,551   9,564 

Equity in earnings  

(losses) of 

unconsolidated 

subsidiaries and 

affiliates, net  60   2,984   45,718   351   49,114   －   49,114 

Investments in 

unconsolidated 

subsidiaries and 

affiliates accounted for 

by the equity method  720   41,367   1,023,463   5,183   1,070,735   －   1,070,735 

Increase in vessels, 

property and equipment 

and intangible assets  11,737   40,032   32,963   268   85,002   396   85,398 
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21. Segment Information (continued) 

 

3. Information on operating revenues, profit or loss, assets, and other items by each reporting 

segment (continued) 

 
 (Millions of yen) 

 2025 

 

 
 
 

Dry bulk 

 

 

Energy 

resource 
transport 

 

 
 

Product 
logistics 

 

 
 

Other 
(*1) 

 

 
 
 

Total 

 

Adjustments 

and 

eliminations 
(*4) 

 

 
 
 

Consolidated 

1. Revenues:                     

Revenues from contract 

with customers ¥ 316,632  ¥ 98,036  ¥ 610,123  ¥ 10,688  ¥ 1,035,481  ¥ －  ¥ 1,035,481 

Other revenues  5,724   3,880   2,734   124   12,463   －   12,463 

Operating revenues from 

customers ¥ 322,357  ¥ 101,917  ¥ 612,857  ¥ 10,812  ¥ 1,047,944  ¥ －  ¥ 1,047,944 

Inter-group revenues and 

  transfers  77   365   5,385   74,205   80,033   (80,033)   － 

Total revenues ¥ 322,434  ¥ 102,282  ¥ 618,243  ¥ 85,017  ¥ 1,127,978  ¥ (80,033)  ¥ 1,047,944 

2. Segment profit (loss) (*3) ¥ 13,596  ¥ 4,992  ¥ 294,329  ¥ 968  ¥ 313,887  ¥ (5,798)  ¥ 308,089 

3. Segment assets ¥ 246,239  ¥ 289,864  ¥ 1,621,241  ¥ 33,634  ¥ 2,190,980  ¥ 19,069  ¥ 2,210,049 

4. Others                     

Depreciation and 

amortization ¥ 16,344  ¥ 11,834  ¥ 19,782  ¥ 822  ¥ 48,783  ¥ 353  ¥ 49,137 

Interest income  353   1,139   1,147   103   2,744   2,313   5,058 

Interest expenses  1,943   2,664   799   25   5,433   1,906   7,339 

Equity in earnings 

(losses) of 

unconsolidated 

subsidiaries and 

affiliates, net  119   (218)   201,967   183   202,052   －   202,052 

Investments in 

unconsolidated 

subsidiaries and 

affiliates accounted for 

by the equity method  670   49,207   1,086,473   5,479   1,141,831   －   1,141,831 

Increase in vessels, 

property and equipment 

and intangible assets  35,425   11,089   86,061   109   132,685   756   133,441 
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21. Segment Information (continued) 

 

3. Information on operating revenues, profit or loss, assets, and other items by each reporting 

segment (continued) 

 

*1 The “Other” consists of business divisions not classified into aforementioned three reporting 

segments, including ship management service, travel agency business, real estate rental and 

management business and others. 

 

*2 (1) The adjustment and elimination of segment profit (loss) of ¥8,432 million includes the 

 following elements: ¥50 million of intersegment transaction eliminations and ¥8,382 

 million of corporate expenses, which are mainly general and administrative expenses 

 not distributed to specific segments. 

 

(2) The adjustment and elimination of segment assets of ¥5,682 million includes the 

following elements: ¥21,415 million of intersegment transaction eliminations and 

¥27,097 million of corporate assets, which are not distributed to specific segments. 

 

(3) The adjustment and elimination of depreciation and amortization of ¥246 million is 

depreciation and amortization of assets that belong to the entire group, which are not 

distributed to specific segments. 

 

(4) The adjustment and elimination of interest income of ¥2,058 million includes the 

following elements: ¥8 million of intersegment transaction eliminations and ¥2,067 

million of interest income, which are not distributed to specific segments. 

 

(5) The adjustment and elimination of interest expenses of ¥4,551 million includes the 

following elements: ¥8 million of intersegment transaction eliminations and ¥4,559 

million of interest expenses, which are not distributed to specific segments. 

 

(6) The adjustment and elimination of increase in vessels, property and equipment, and 

intangible assets of ¥396 million is the increase in assets that belong to the entire group, 

which are not distributed to specific segments. 
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21. Segment Information (continued) 

 

3. Information on operating revenues, profit or loss, assets, and other items by each reporting 

segment (continued) 

 

*3 Segment profit (loss) is adjusted for ordinary income (loss) as described in 2. Calculation 

method of reporting segment profit (loss). 

 

*4 (1) The adjustment and elimination of segment profit (loss) of ¥5,798 million includes the 

 following elements: ¥65 million of intersegment transaction eliminations and ¥5,733 

 million of corporate expenses, which are mainly general and administrative expenses 

 not distributed to specific segments. 

 

(2) The adjustment and elimination of segment assets of ¥19,069 million includes the 

following elements: ¥12,279 million of intersegment transaction eliminations and 

¥31,348 million of corporate assets, which are not distributed to specific segments. 

 

(3) The adjustment and elimination of depreciation and amortization of ¥353 million is 

depreciation and amortization of assets that belong to the entire group, which are not 

distributed to specific segments. 

 

(4) The adjustment and elimination of interest income of ¥2,313 million includes the 

following elements: ¥616 million of intersegment transaction eliminations and ¥2,930 

million of interest income, which are not distributed to specific segments. 

 

(5) The adjustment and elimination of interest expenses of ¥1,906 million includes the 

following elements: ¥616 million of intersegment transaction eliminations and ¥2,523 

million of interest expenses, which are not distributed to specific segments. 

 

(6) The adjustment and elimination of increase in vessels, property and equipment, and 

intangible assets of ¥756 million is the increase in assets that belong to the entire group, 

which are not distributed to specific segments. 

 

The Company has changed the foreign currency conversion method into Japanese yen for income 

and expenses of foreign subsidiaries and affiliates from using the spot rate on the financial closing 

date to the average rate during the fiscal year from the beginning of the fiscal year ended March 

31, 2025. This change in accounting policy has been retroactively applied, and comparative 

amounts for the previous fiscal year have been retroactively adjusted. 
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21.  Segment Information (continued) 

 

3. Information on operating revenues, profit or loss, assets, and other items by each reporting 

segment (continued) 

 

Revenues by countries or geographical areas for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 are 

summarized as follows (*): 

 

 (Millions of yen) 

 2024 

 Japan  U.S.A.  Europe  Asia  Others  Total 

Revenues ¥ 872,227  ¥ 7,995  ¥ 35,534  ¥ 41,042  ¥ 1,138  ¥ 957,939 

 

 (Millions of yen) 

 2025 

 Japan  U.S.A.  Europe  Asia  Others  Total 

Revenues ¥ 955,691  ¥ 10,305  ¥ 36,367  ¥ 44,382  ¥ 1,198  ¥ 1,047,944 

 

(*) These revenues are summarized based on the locations of the Company and its subsidiaries. 

 

At March 31, 2024 and 2025, vessels, property and equipment by countries or geographical areas 

are summarized as follows: 

 

 (Millions of yen) 

 2024 

 Japan  Singapore  Others  Total 

Vessels, property and equipment ¥ 334,534  ¥ 59,151  ¥ 16,632  ¥ 410,318 

 

 (Millions of yen) 

 2025 

 Japan  Singapore  Others  Total 

Vessels, property and equipment ¥ 417,078  ¥ 57,466  ¥ 14,121  ¥ 488,666 

 

The Company has omitted a description of sales to external customers because there are no 

customers whose sales account for 10% or more of the net sales in the consolidated statements of 

operation. 
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21. Segment Information (continued) 

 

3. Information on operating revenues, profit or loss, assets, and other items by each reporting 

segment (continued) 

 

Loss on impairment of fixed assets for the year ended March 31, 2024 is as follows: 

 

 (Millions of yen) 

 2024 

 
 
 

Dry bulk 
 

Energy 
resource 
transport 

 
 

Product 
logistics 

 
 

Other 
(*) 

 
Adjustments 

and 
eliminations 

 
 
 

Total 

Loss on 

impairment of 

fixed assets ¥ －  ¥ －  ¥ 257  ¥ －  ¥ 1  ¥ 258 

 

(*)   The “Other” consists of business divisions not classified into aforementioned three reporting 

segments, including ship management service, travel agency business, real estate rental and 

management business and others. 

 

Losses on impairment of fixed assets for the year ended March 31, 2025 are omitted due to their 

immateriality.
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22. Related Party Transactions 

 

1. Transactions with related parties 

 

No items to be reported for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2025. 

 

(*) Based on the resolution at the Board of Directors’ meeting on May 7, 2024, the Company 

purchased ¥33,436 million in shares of treasury stock from Effissimo Capital Management 

Pte Ltd. at the closing price on May 8, 2024, the day before the transaction by Tokyo Stock 

Exchange Trading NeTwork System (ToSTNeT-3). 

Additionally, based on the resolution at the Board of Directors’ meeting on November 5, 

2024, the Company purchased ¥29,341 million in shares of treasury stock from Effissimo 

Capital Management Pte Ltd. at the closing price on November 6, 2024, the day before the 

transaction by Tokyo Stock Exchange Trading NeTwork System (ToSTNeT-3). 

 

2. Notes on parent company and subsidiaries and affiliates 

 

Summarized financial statements of significant affiliate are as follows: 

 

OCEAN NETWORK EXPRESS PTE. LTD. is classified as a significant affiliate for the year 

ended March 31, 2025. The affiliate’s summarized financial statements for the years ended March 

31, 2024 and 2025 are as follows: 

 

 2024  2025 

 (Millions of yen) 

Total current assets ¥ 3,033,910  ¥ 2,505,225 

Total non-current assets  1,706,716   2,804,789 

      

Total current liabilities  599,450   679,931 

Total non-current liabilities  820,937   1,072,490 

      

Total net assets  3,320,239   3,557,593 

      

Operating revenues  2,088,033   2,937,390 

Profit (loss) before income taxes  177,327   685,571 

Profit (loss)  153,624   661,937 
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23. Subsequent Events 

 

No items to be reported for the year ended March 31, 2025. 



 

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

 

 

The Board of Directors 

Kawasaki Kisen Kaisha,Ltd. 

 

 

The Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Kawasaki Kisen 

Kaisha,Ltd. (the Company) and its consolidated subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the 

consolidated balance sheet as at March 31, 2025, and the consolidated statements of operations, 

comprehensive income, changes in net assets, and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes 

to the consolidated financial statements. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at March 31, 2025, and its 

consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 

Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 

Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated 

financial statements in Japan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 

in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were 

addressed in the context of the audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 

forming the auditor’s opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Estimate of total voyage days for revenue recognition based on the number of elapsed days of 

a voyage 

Description of Key Audit Matter Auditor’s Response 

As described in Note 2 “Significant 

Accounting Estimates”, out of marine 

transportation and other operating revenues of 

¥1,047,944 million in the consolidated 

statement of operations for the year ended 

March 31, 2025, the marine transportation 

revenues recorded based on the number of 

elapsed days of voyages not completed as of 

the end of the fiscal year for the Company’s 

ocean tramp shipping (excluding product 

logistics), which was more significant than 

others given the revenue amount and the 

length of voyages, was ¥29,058 million. 

Marine transportation revenues for voyages 

not completed as of the end of the fiscal year 

are measured based on the total freight 

revenue and the voyage progress. The voyage 

progress is calculated based on the number of 

elapsed days of a voyage by the end of the 

fiscal year to the estimated total voyage days, 

and the revenue is recognized in proportion to 

the voyage progress. A significant assumption 

in calculating the voyage progress is the 

estimate of the total voyage days. 

The Company designed, implemented and 

has been maintaining the business processes 

and related IT systems to comprehensively 

identify voyages not completed as of the end 

of the fiscal year and calculate the voyage 

progress based on the number of elapsed days 

of a voyage by the end of the fiscal year to 

the estimated total voyage days. If such 

business processes and related IT systems do 

not function as intended and the required 

information on voyages is not accurately 

captured there could be a significant impact 

on the consolidated financial statements. 

The estimate of the total voyage days, which 

is a significant assumption, may change 

depending on weather conditions, congestion 

The audit procedures we performed to 

examine the estimate of the total voyage 

days, which is a significant assumption in 

revenue recognition, include the following, 

among others: 

・ We assessed the effectiveness of the 

design and operation of internal controls 

over the business processes and related 

IT systems, which capture the 

information required for revenue 

recognition, particularly the progress of 

the voyage. 

・ In order to evaluate the reasonableness of 

the estimate of the total voyage days as 

of March 31, 2025 to see whether there 

was significant discrepancy between 

actual total voyage days and estimate of 

the total voyage days, we compared the 

estimate of the total voyage days to the 

actual voyage days for which the voyage 

was completed during the audit period 

after the end of the fiscal year.  

・ For the estimate of the total voyage days 

for which the voyage was not completed 

during the audit period after the end of 

the fiscal year, the audit procedures we 

performed include the following, among 

others: 

i. We obtained from the Company the 

information including the number of 

days calculated based on voyage 

distance and speed, and the number of 

days docked at ports of loading and 

unloading and inquired of the persons 

in charge of related departments 

regarding the estimation method.  

ii. With respect to the information 

obtained, we compared the number of 

days calculated based on the voyage 
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at ports and other factors, which may then 

affect the voyage progress.  

Accordingly, we determined the estimate of 

the total number of voyage days, which is a 

significant assumption in the revenue 

recognition based on the number of elapsed 

days of a voyage, to be a key audit matter. 

distance and speed with external 

sources available to the auditors, such 

as voyage distance tables. 

Additionally, we verified the number 

of days docked at ports of loading and 

unloading by comparing them with 

the port anchoring periods designated 

in the contract and other relevant 

information. 

iii. We compared the estimate of total 

voyage days with the total number of 

voyage days estimated based on the 

latest data on ship locations, which we 

obtained from external available 

source by ourselves and to see 

whether there was significant 

discrepancy. 

・ In order to assess the accuracy of 

calculation of voyage progress based on 

the estimated total voyage days and the 

revenue recognized in proportion to the 

calculated voyage progress, we also 

performed recalculations. 
 

 

Other Information 

Other information comprises the information included in disclosure documents that contain 

audited consolidated financial statements, but does not include the consolidated financial 

statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

We have concluded that other information does not exist. Accordingly, we have not performed 

any work related to other information. 

 

Responsibilities of Management, the Audit Committee for the Consolidated Financial 

Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, and for such 

internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and disclosing, as required by accounting principles 

generally accepted in Japan, matters related to going concern. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 

report that includes our opinion. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 

material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan, we exercise 

professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

・ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 

and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

・ Consider internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances for our risk assessments, while the purpose of the audit of 

the consolidated financial statements is not expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal control. 

・ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

・ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 

in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if 

such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 

may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

・ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation in accordance 

with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan. 

・ Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 

the financial information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for 

forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 

direction, supervision and review of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our 

audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with the ethical 

requirements regarding independence that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements in Japan, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to 

eliminate threats or safeguards applied to reduce threats to an acceptable level. 
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that 

were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current 

period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report 

unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 

circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 

adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 

benefits of such communication. 

 

Fee-related Information 

The fees for the audits of the financial statements of Kawasaki Kisen Kaisha, Ltd. and its 

subsidiaries and other services provided by us and other EY member firms for the year ended 

March 31, 2025 are 265 million yen and 73 million yen, respectively. 

 

Interest Required to Be Disclosed by the Certified Public Accountants Act of Japan 

Our firm and its designated engagement partners do not have any interest in the Group which is 

required to be disclosed pursuant to the provisions of the Certified Public Accountants Act of Japan. 

Ernst & Young ShinNihon LLC 

Tokyo, Japan 

August 4, 2025 

Satoshi Uchida 

Designated Engagement Partner 

Certified Public Accountant 

Masaya Kiyomoto 

Designated Engagement Partner 

Certified Public Accountant 

Kazuma Miwa 

Designated Engagement Partner 

Certified Public Accountant 
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Notes to the Reader of Independent Auditor’s Report:
This is a copy of the Independent Auditor’ s Report and the original copy (with electronic
signature) is kept separately by the Company.




